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QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Capital Case
I. Where a Florida jury recommended a death sentence before this Court

decided Hurst v. Florida, 136 S. Ct. 616 (2016), and none of the findings required

by Hurst were made, can the error be deemed harmless under Chapman v.
California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967), or does the recommendation simply not amount to
the jury verdict the Sixth Amendment requires?

2. Did the death-sentencing procedures in this case comply with the Eighth
Amendment, where the jury was repeatedly advised by the court that its advisory

sentencing recommendation was non-binding?
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Case No.
IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

QUENTIN MARCUS TRUEHILL,
Petitioner,
Vs.
STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Petitioner, Quentin Marcus Truehill, urges this Court to issue its writ of
certiorari in this matter, on review of the judgment of the Supreme Court of Florida
rendered in this matter on February 23, 2017.

CITATION TO OPINION BELOW

The opinion of the Supreme Court of Florida, Truehill v. State, 211 So.3rd 930

(Fla. 2017), is attached. (Appendix A).



STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The decision of the Supreme Court of Florida affirming Petitioner’s conviction
and death sentence on direct appeal was issued on February 23, 2017. Jurisdiction
of this Court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1257(a). Petitioner asserts that the
proceedings in the state court violated the right to trial by jury, and the right to
heightened reliability in death-sentencing proceedings, guaranteed by the Sixth and
Eighth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED

Amendment VI to the Constitution of the United States:

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the
right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the
State and district wherein the crime shall have been
committed, which district shall have been previously
ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and
cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the
witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for
obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance
of Counsel for his defense.

Amendment VIII to the Constitution of the United States:

Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive
fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.

Amendment XIV, Section 1, to the Constitution of the United States:

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and
subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United
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States and of the State wherein they reside. No state shall
make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges
or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any
state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property,
without due process of law; nor deny to any person within
this jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

Section 921.141, Florida Statutes (2014):

(2) ADVISORY SENTENCE BY THE JURY. - After hearing all
the evidence, the jury shall deliberate and render an advisory sentence to
the court, based upon the following matters:

(a) Whether sufficient aggravating circumstances exist as
enumerated [below];

(b) Whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist which
outweigh the aggravating circumstances found to exist; and

(c) Based on these considerations, whether the defendant should
be sentenced to life imprisonment or death.

(3) FINDINGS IN SUPPORT OF SENTENCE OF DEATH. -
Notwithstanding the recommendation of a majority of the jury, the court,
after weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, shall enter
a sentence of life imprisonment or death, but if the court imposes a
sentence of death, it shall set forth in writing its findings upon which the
sentence of death is based as to the facts: :

(a) That sufficient aggravating circumstances exist as enumerated
[below]; and

(b) that there are insufficient mitigating circumstances to outweigh
the aggravating circumstances.

In each case in which the court imposes the death sentence, the
determination of the court shall be supported by specific written
findings of fact based upon the [statutory aggravating and mitigating]
circumstances and upon the records of the trial and the sentencing
proceedings.



STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Quentin Truehill was charged in Florida with the kidnapping and first-
degree murder of Vincent Binder. He went to trial, and was convicted and
ultimately sentenced to death, in 2014. The Florida Supreme Court, in the
opinion under review, summarized the State’s case as follows:

[O]n the evening of March 30, 2010, at the Avoyelles Parish Sheriff's
Office in Mansura, Louisiana...Truehill and two other cellmates, Kentrell F.
Johnson and Peter Hughes, held the holding-cell officer hostage. Truehill
then attacked the booking officer with a shank, after which the three
cellmates fled the jail. Later that day, the men stole a black Chevy
extended-cab truck, which contained tools, including saws and knives. The
truck was eventually found in Miami, and a search of the truck led to the
murder weapon and other relevant physical evidence.

Truehill, Johnson, and Hughes committed a series of crimes as they
made their way to Miami. In Broussard, Louisiana, the men stole a purse
from LeAnn Williams as she exited her car. They then used Williams' credit
cards from her purse to fund their journey until her credit card company
listed the card as stolen. Williams' identification card was later found in the
stolen truck.

On the afternoon of April 1, 2010, in Pensacola, Florida, the three men
attacked Brenda Brown at an apartment complex. One of the men had
initially approached her, asking for some water, and the three men followed
her into an apartment that she was cleaning. After Brown filled a blue
plastic cup with water, two of the men brandished large knives and
demanded her money. One man displayed a large filleting knife, while the
other man's knife was twelve inches in length with a brown wooden handle
and did not have a point at the end. Brown gave them her money, at which
point they taped her mouth with electrical tape, taped her hands behind her
back, and took her to a back bedroom, where they hit her on her head with
the knives. Brown put her hands up to protect herself and then pretended to



be dead. Based on the injuries she sustained in the attack, she had five of her
fingers amputated; she also had a skull fracture and two lacerations on her
head. Brown identified Truehill as the person who approached her with the
knife. After Truehill was apprehended, police found a pair of jeans in the
co-defendants' motel room with both Binder's and Brown's DNA on it,
establishing that the person who battered Brown was also involved in
Binder's death.

The codefendants continued east, arriving in Tallahassee, Florida that
same day. At 10:30 p.m. on April 1, Co-defendant Johnson approached
Mario Rios, who was visiting a friend at an apartment complex in
Tallahassee, to ask Rios if the mall was still open. The question seemed odd
since it was so late, and Rios began backing away from Johnson. Truehill, at
that point, jumped out and grabbed Rios by his shirt with a twisting motion,
demanding all of Rios's possessions as Truehill displayed a large knife. Rios
identified the knife in evidence as being consistent with the knife that he
saw. Rios pushed Truehill back and ran to his friend's apartment. He called
the police immediately and gave law enforcement the shirt that Truehill
grabbed. DNA testing on the portion of the shirt that Truehill grabbed was
consistent with Truehill's DNA,

Later that same evening, around 11 p.m., Cris Pavlish and her friend
were walking in a parking lot toward her car when a black four-door truck
quickly approached and stopped in a manner that blocked them, The men in
the truck asked them for directions, and Pavlish and her friend attempted to
answer their questions. At that point, Truehill demanded her purse, swinging
a machete with a wooden handle and a thin, gold band across it. Truehill
initially attempted to grab Pavlish, but she was able to break free from his
grip. During the scuffle, Pavlish's purse fell, so Truehill put the knife down
to grab her purse. Pavlish used the opportunity to run away, and her friend
followed shortly. Some of the personal items that Pavlish had in her purse
were found in the stolen black truck.

That same evening, on April 1, Beth Frady, her husband David, and
Rebecca Edwards met Vincent Binder for dinner in Tallahassee and then
ended their evening at the Fradys’ home, where Edwards and Beth Frady
worked on a paper for school. Binder had his bankcard with him earlier that



evening when he made a purchase at a gas station. Around midnight on April
2, Binder left the study group to walk home since he lived only about a mile
away. The next day, Beth Frady texted Binder numerous times, attempted to
call him, and stopped by his house, but he never responded to any of the
attempts. On April 8, she reported Binder as missing to the police, and
during their investigation, the police learned that Binder’s bankcard was
used for two transactions that occurred at 12:15 and 12:21 a.m. at the
Halftime Keg store in Tallahassee on April 2 - fifteen minutes after Binder
had left his friends’ home. A video was obtained from the store, which
showed Truehill using the victim’s bankcard without the victim’s presence.
Additional transactions occurred with his bankcard in Madison County,
Jacksonville, Fort Pierce, Daytona Beach, Opa Locka, and Miami, at which
point the bankcard was blocked based on suspicious activity.

Shirley Marcus met Truehill, Johnson, and Hughes in Miami that
month when the three men and her friend, Tony, picked her up in the
four-door black truck. Marcus, who partied with the group at a hotel,
recalled that the three men “had money.” The next day, Marcus joined the
co-defendants to eat at Burger King and visit the beach. While at the beach,
however, one of the men lost the keys to the truck. Marcus and Johnson left
to retrieve Marcus's vehicle—a red Ford Sport Trac. When they returned to
pick up Truehill and Hughes, Truehill and Hughes had Marcus's tennis
shoes, even though she had left them in the locked, black truck. In addition,
the men carried a large, black bag. Police eventually recovered the black
truck at the beach in Miami with a shattered left rear window.

Shortly after this, the men had run out of money, so Marcus took the
three men to her house. Marcus drove Truehill, Johnson, and Hughes to a
local Wachovia bank, where they attempted to withdraw $1,300 from
Binder's bank account, using Binder's bankcard and driver's license that
Truehill had with him. The bank teller became suspicious because, while the
driver's license submitted belonged to a white male, the driver was a black
female, and all of the passengers were black males. After the teller took a
long time in processing the request, Johnson told Marcus to drive away. A
bank security guard was able to write down Marcus's tag number before the
vehicle disappeared, and a surveillance camera captured images of the
vehicle.



Meanwhile, Peter Milian of the Miami-Dade Police Department
noticed a black truck in a parking lot with a shattered left rear window and a
missing license tag. Afler learning the vehicle was reported as stolen from
Louisiana and searching the vehicle, he found a bloody knife underneath the
front passenger seat. Subsequent testing of the knife revealed that eight of
the bloodstains contained a complete DNA profile that matched Binder, and
Johnson was found to be a minor contributor. Additional items were later
found in the truck, including Williams' Louisiana identification card, ATM
receipts, Pavlish's documents, and a green washcloth with blood on it. DNA
testing of the washcloth revealed a blood stain that contained a complete
DNA profile that matched Binder, and a mixed DNA profile that was
consistent with Binder and Johnson.

On April 12, 2010, Marcus, Truehill, and Hughes were arrested at a
Budget Inn Motel, and Johnson was arrested a block away shortly after. In
the motel room shared by Marcus, Truehill, Hughes, and Johnson, police
found significant incriminating evidence, including Binder's wallet, a black,
heavy-duty garbage bag containing clothing, a metal handsaw, a machete,
and a pair of black Levi's jeans. DNA testing on the machete resulted in a
partial DNA profile that matched Truehill. DNA testing on the black Levi's
revealed mixed DNA profiles, where Binder was the major contributor. A
swab of the inside waistband revealed a mixed DNA profile that matched
Truehill, Johnson, Hughes, and Marcus as possible contributors.

Police also conducted a search in Marcus’s motel room, where Marcus
had initially taken Truehill, Hughes, and Johnson after they ran out of
money, and found a black sheath for a knife and a pair of Giovanni blue
jeans on Marcus’s bed, among other items. DNA testing on the Giovanni
Jeans revealed a complete DNA profile that matched Binder, a DNA profile
that matched Brenda Brown, a mixed DNA profile with Brown as the major
contributor and Johnson as a possible minor contributor, and a mixed DNA
profile with Binder as the major contributor and Johnson as a possible minor
contributor.

Law enforcement officers found Binder's decomposed body in an open
field near I-95 in St. Augustine, Florida. Binder's hat was about twenty-five
teet away from his body with a straight-line cut on the bill going toward the



hat. Binder had four stab wounds to his back and blunt-force injuries to his
left head area that penetrated into the cranium. Approximately ten
chopping-type injuries to the back of Binder's head caused fractures and a
four-inch hole in the back of his head. In addition, Binder's ribs were
fractured, his ulna bone in the left forearm was fractured, and the radius was
dislocated—classic defensive injuries. Binder also sustained chopping
injuries on his hands, causing fractures that also could be considered to be
defensive injuries. Dr. Frederick Hobin, the medical examiner, opined that
two knives were used to kill the victim, and that some of the wounds were
consistent with a machete, while the stab wounds were caused by a different
knife. Michael Warren, the Assistant Director of the William R, Maples
Center for Forensic Medicine, assisted in Binder's autopsy and opined that
the knife in evidence could have caused the injuries to Binder's cranium.

Truehill v. State, 211 So. 3" 930, 936-39 (Fla. 2017).

At the outset of jury selection, the court said to the first panel to be
questioned “[l]Jet me point out some differences to you...between the guilt
phase, when you’re determining whether the defendant is guilty, and the
penalty phase, when you’re trying to recommend a sentence[. One difference
is] that a unanimous verdict is not necessary in the penalty phase; it is
necessary only in the guilt phase.” (XXV 196-97) The court went on to
advise that first panel “|w]hen it comes to the...penalty...the jury renders
what we call an advisory sentence. What this means is that the final decision
as to what punishment will be imposed rests solely with the judge. However,
the judge is required to give your verdict recommending life or death great

welght.” (XXV 197) The court advised the two remaining panels in a similar



fashion. (XXVII 584-85; XXX 1037-39)

In the penalty phase, the State called as a witness a retired prosecutor
from Louisiana, who testified that Truehill had pled guilty to manslaughter
in a shooting death, was sentenced to thirty years for that crime, and was
serving that sentence at the time of the escape from prison and the
subsequent murder. He also testified that Truehill was convicted of a 2006
armed robbery in Louisiana. 211 So. 3" at 939. Truehill presented several
witnesses to the jury to establish mitigation. Id. at 939-40.

The then-standard jury instructions the jury heard began as follows:

THE COURT: It is now your duty to advise the court as to the
punishment that should be imposed upon the defendant for the crime
of first-degree murder. You must follow the law that will now be
given to you and render an advisory sentence.... As you’ve been told,
the final decision as to which punishment shall be imposed is the
responsibility of the judge. In this case, as the trial judge, that
responsibility will fall on me. However, the law requires you to render
an advisory sentence as to which punishment should be imposed, life
imprisonment without the possibility of parole or the death penalty.

Although the recommendation of the jury as to the penalty is advisory

in nature and is not binding, the jury recommendation must be given

great weight and deference by the court in determining which
punishment to impose.
(XIV 2537) The instructions given in this case went on to refer 21 additional

times to a recommended sentence and seven additional times to an advisory

sentence. (XIV 2537-44) Those references included the closing words of the



standard instructions, l.e.,
THE COURT: You should take sufficient time to
fairly discuss the evidence and arrive at a well-
reasoned recommendation. You will now retire to
consider your recomimendation as to the penalty to
be imposed upon the defendant.
(XIV 2544)
Counsel for the State argued at the penalty phase that if the jury found
beyond a reasonable doubt that one aggravating factor existed, and if it
found that the mitigation did not outweigh the aggravation, that proof would

be sufficient to support a death recommendation. (LI 911) The jury

recommended a sentence of death twelve to zero. Truehill at 940. A Sgencer‘

hearing, where under Florida law additional mitigation can be proved to the
court alone, was convened; two more witnesses testified at that hearing to
youthful trauma in the defendant’s life and to his calmer adult demeanor. 211
So. 3" at 940.

The trial court issued a sentencing order, in which it recited it had
independently weighed the evidence. (XIX 3300) The court found that six
aggravating factors applied, assigning each great weight: (1) Truehill was

under a sentence of imprisonment at the time of the crime; (2) Truehill had a

" Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

10



prior violent felony; (3) Truehill committed the murder while engaged in the
commission of a kidnapping or robbery; (4) the murder was committed for
the purpose of preventing a lawful arrest; (5) the murder was especially
heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC); and (6) the capital felony was committed
in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral
or legal justification (CCP). Id. at 940-41. The trial court then considered
whether Truehill was a major participant in the murder, and concluded that
his relatively high culpability was “well established and conclusively proven
beyond a reasonable doubt.” Truehill at 941.

The court found four statutory mitigators were proven by the greater
weight of the evidence, but gave each “slight weight” or “less than slight
weight”: (1) the defendant was under the influence of mental or emotional
disturbance; (2) the capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or
conform to the requirements of law was substantially impaired; (3) the crime
was committed by another person and Truehill had only a minor role; (4)
Truehill acted under extreme duress or the substantial domination of another
person. Id. at 941. The judge further found that Truehill proved forty non-
statutory mitigators, and gave most of them slight to no weight, except for

four factors he assigned moderate weight: (1) Truehill experienced the
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trauma of witnessing the unfolding of a retaliatory murder; (2) he helped his
girlfriend and her mother escape the flooding of Hurricane Katrina; (3)
Truehill jumped into the water to save his girlfriend when she fell out of the
boat; and (4) when escaping the flooding from Hurricane Katrina, Truehill
was able to procure a car. The court found that the aggravation outweighed
the mitigaﬁOH, and imposed a death sentence. Truehill at 941,

In supplemental briefing in his direct appeal to the Florida Supreme

Court, Petitioner argued that Hurst v. Florida, 136 S. Ct. 616 (2016), was not
complied with, and that the absence of the findings required by Hurst
amounted to structural error. See Truehill, 211 So. 3" at 955. Petitioner
further argued that his jury’s instructions had run afoul of Caldwell v.

Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985), and that read with Hurst, Caldwell

warrants reversal. See 1d.

The state supreme court did not address Caldwell, and held that the
trial court’s noncompliance with Hurst had resulted in no harm. Id. at 955-
57. Six Justices of the Florida Supreme Court considered the case; three
concurred in the per curiam opinion, two concurred in result only as to the
sentence, and Justice Quince dissented. See id. at 960. As to the absence of

any findings regarding aggravating factors, the per curiam opinion states
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only that “Truehill has not contested any of the aggravating factors as
improper in the case at hand - Truehill’s direct appeal.” 211 So. 3" at 957.
Justice Pariente, concurring, also noted that “none of the aggravating factors
that the State and the trial court relied on in imposing death were challenged
by Truehill or deemed improper by this Court.” Truehill at 961 (Pariente, J.,
concurring). As to the other findings needed in Florida - i.e., that the
aggravation was sufficient to support a death sentence and that the mitigation
did not outweigh the aggravation - the court concluded that the 12-0 death
recommendation obviated the need for any findings to be expressly made:
“Here, the jury unanimously found all of the necessary facts for the
imposition of a death sentence by virtue of its unanimous recommendation.”
Id. at 957.

The dissenter,Justice Quince, would have reversed because the
reviewing court could not determine which aggravating factors the jury had
found to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. 211 So. 3" at 961 (Quince, J.,
dissenting). She posited that there are two classes of aggravating factors:

those which could be found by a court on this record, and those which

13



“require a factual determination based on evidence presented to a jury.”” She
would hold that as to the second class of aggravators, harmless error analysis
is impossible without the reviewing court impermissibly substituting its
Judgment for that of the jury. Id. at 961-62. Justice Quince cautioned that by
essentially reweighing the evidence, the supreme court had “engag|ed] in the
exact type of conduct the United States Supreme Court cautioned against in

Hurst v. Florida.” Truehill at 962 (Quince, J., dissenting), citing Hurst v,

Florida, 136 S. Ct. at 622.

* Justice Quince concluded that three aggravators of each kind are present here.
Presumably, in her view the aggravators that could not be found by a court are that the murder
was committed to avoid arrest; that it was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel: and that it was
cold, calculated, and premeditated.

14



REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT

This Court grants relief when the right to a jury’s verdict is vitiated
altogether. This case - where none of the findings required by Hurst v,

Florida were made - has more in common with Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508

U.S. 275 (1993), where no verdict “within the meaning of the Sixth

Amendment” was returned, than it does with Neder v. United States, 527

U.S. 1 (1999), where no harm resulted when a jury was kept from
considering an undisputed element of a charged offense.

Even if the absence of the Hurst findings did not amount to structural
error, the State still could not meet its burden of showing harmless error
under Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967), since the Florida Supreme
Court essentially substituted its judgment for that of an objectively
reasonable jury.

The jurors returned their death recommendation after being assured at
length by the court that their contribution to the proceedings was advisory
rather than binding. Their recommendation features insufficient indicia of
“heightened reliability,” and the resulting Eighth Amendment problem,
combined with the undisputable Sixth Amendment violation found by the

Florida Supreme Court, warrants full briefing.
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ARGUMENT
POINT ONE

IN THIS PRE-HURST V. FLORIDA CASE, WHERE
NONE OF THE FINDINGS REQUIRED BY HURST
WERE MADE, THE JURY’S RECOMMENDATION
DOES NOT AMOUNT TO THE VERDICT THE SIXTH
AMENDMENT REQUIRES. EVEN IF THE ABSENCE
OF THE HURST FINDINGS DID NOT AMOUNT TO
STRUCTURAL ERROR, THE STATE COULD NOT
MEET ITS BURDEN OF SHOWING HARMLESS
ERROR UNDER CHAPMAN V. CALIFORNIA.

Limited violations of the right to trial by jury can be deemed harmless.

Washington v. Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212 (2006); Neder v. United States, 527

U.S. 1(1999). However, in capital cases tried in Florida before this Court

decided Hurst v. Florida, 136 S. Ct. 616 (2016), the absence of findings

resulted in jury recommendations that did not amount to “verdicts” for Sixth
Amendment purposes. For that reason, this Court should accept this case for
review, and reverse the Florida Supreme Court’s decision affirming
Petitioner’s death sentence.

In a Florida capital case post-Hurst, the jury must find not only
whether individual aggravating circumstances have been proved, but also
whether those aggravating circumstances are sufficient to support a death

sentence, and whether the aggravating factors outweigh the mitigating
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circumstances. Hurst v. Florida, 136 S. Ct. 616 (2016); Hurst v. State, 202

So. 3" 40 (Fla. 2016). In this case, the Florida Supreme Court held that the
Jury’s general 12-0 recommendation that a death sentence is appropriate
obviated the need for any of those specific findings. By so holding, that court
ran afoul of this Court’s express statement in Hurst that a mere death
recommendation cannot substitute for the mandatory findings. See Hurst v.
Florida, 136 S. Ct. at 622.

SULLIVAN v. LOUISIANA

The decision to be reviewed is similar to the decision overturned in

Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275 (1993). In Sullivan, a reasonable-doubt

instruction this Court had previously disapproved was given in a criminal
trial. The instruction required the jury to harbor grave uncertainty about a
potential guilty verdict before finding a doubt to be reasonable. See State v,
Sullivan, 596 So. 2d 177, 185 n.3 (La. 1992). The Louisiana Supreme Court
was aware this Court had disapproved that instruction, but deemed any error
harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in Sullivan’s case. On review this Court

held that Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967), required reversal of the

harmless-error resulit:

17



Consistent with the jury-trial guarantee, the question [Chapman)
instructs the reviewing court to consider is not what effect the
constitutional error might generally be expected to have upon a
reasonable jury, but rather what effect it had upon the guilty
verdict in the case at hand. Harmless-error review looks, we
have said, to the basis on which “the jury actually rested its
verdict.” The inquiry, in other words, is not whether, in a trial
that occurred without the error, a guilty verdict would surely
have been rendered, but whether the guilty verdict actually
rendered in this trial was surely unattributable to the error. That
must be so, because to hypothesize a guilty verdict that was
never in fact rendered - no matter how inescapable the findings
to support that verdict might be - would violate the jury trial
guarantee.

Once the proper role of an appellate court engaged in the
Chapman inquiry is understood, the illogic of harmless-error
review in the present case becomes evident. Since, for the
reasons described above, there has been no jury verdict within
the meaning of the Sixth Amendment, the entire premise of
Chapman review is simply absent. ... The most an appellate
court can conclude is that a jury would surely have found
petitioner guilty beyond a reasonable doubit...[t]hat is not
enough. The Sixth Amendment requires more than appellate
speculation about a hypothetical jury’s action...it requires an
actual jury finding of guilty.

Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 1J.S. at 279-80 (cites and punctuation omitted;

emphasis in original.)

Here, also, there has been no jury verdict within the meaning of the

Sixth Amendment as to any individual aggravating circumstance. The trial

court eventually found that six statutory aggravators were proven, but the

18



record does not show that the jury itself reached any such determination
unanimously and after applying the “beyond a reasonable doubt” standard.’?
While the Sixth Amendment may or may not require more as to the

3% 46

“defendant committed a prior violent felony,” “murder was committed in the
course of a felony,” and “defendant was under sentence of imprisonment”
aggravators, clearly the Sixth Amendment does require an actual verdict as
to the fact-specific “committed to avoid arrest,” “especially heinous,

atrocious, and cruel,” and “cold, calculated, and premeditated” factors.

Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1 (1999), relied on by the Florida

Supreme Court in finding the Hurst error harmless, does not support the
decision under review. In Neder, a lawyer accused of fraud and tax evasion
objected when the court at his trial instructed the jury it need not consider the
materiality vel non of his false statements. The Eleventh Circuit affirmed,
finding that instruction to be error, but the error to be harmless, since

materiality had not been disputed. 527 U.S. at 6-7. This Court in Neder

distinguished Sullivan v. Louisiana, holding that the structural error that

defied harmless-error analysis in Sullivan was not replicated in Neder’s trial.

* The Florida Supreme Court requires all jury verdicts in capital and other criminal trials
to be unanimous. Hurst v. State, 202 So. 3" 40 (Fla. 2016) (passin).
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527 U.S. at 10-15. Noting that it was “subject|[ing a] narrow class of cases
like the present one to harmless-error review,” this Court affirmed the
Eleventh Circuit because (a) the governing caselaw deems all underreporting
of income to be material, and (b) presumably in light of that caselaw, Neder
had argued neither to his jury nor to any court that his statements could be
found immaterial. 527 U.S. at 17-19 and n. 2.

This case is patently more similar to Sullivan than to the narrow class
of cases affected by Neder. Here suitability for the death penalty was
disputed, and no body of caselaw does, or could, establish that all rational
Juries would find, in any particular case, that the defendant’s actions were
“cold,” “calculated,” “especially heinous,” “especially atrocious,” and
“especially cruel.” Sullivan calls for further review of this matter on Sixth
Amendment grounds.

CHAPMAN v. CALIFORNIA

Even if the absence of Hurst findings did not amount to structural
error, the State could not establish that their absence is harmless under

Chapman v. California, supra. Notably, in each case that has come before the

Florida Supreme Court since Hurst where a 12-0 recommendation was

reached, that court found the error harmless. Guardado v. Jones, 2017 WL
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1954984 (Fla. May 11, 2017); Cozzie v. State, 2017 WL 1954976 (Fla. May

11, 2017); Morris v. State, 2017 WL 1506853 (Fla. April 27, 2017);

Tundidor v. State, 2017 WL 1506854 (Fla. April 27, 2017); QOliver v. State,

214 So. 3" 606 (Fla. April 6, 2017); Middleton v. State, 2017 WL 930925

(Fla. March 9, 2017); Jones v. State, 212 So. 3 321 (Fla. March 2, 201 7y

Hall v, State, 212 So. 2d 1001 (Fla. February 9, 2017); Kaczmar v. State,

2017 WL 410214 (Fla. January 31, 2017); Knight v. State, 2017 WL 411329

(Fla. January 31, 2017); King v. State, 211 So. 3" 866 (Fla. January 26,

2017); Davis v. State, 207 So. 3" 142 (Fla. November 10, 2016). As Justice

Quince pointed out in her dissent in this case, the Florida Supreme Court has
essentially substituted its judgment for that of a notional, objectively
reasonable jury - a process which Chapman expressly disallows. See supra at

18. If Sullivan v. Louisiana is deemed inapplicable here, Chapman calls for

further briefing.
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POINT TWO
THE DEATH-SENTENCING PROCEDURES USED IN
THIS CASE FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE EIGHTH
AMENDMENT, WHERE THE JURY WAS ADVISED
REPEATEDLY BY THE COURT THAT ITS
RECOMMENDATION WOULD BE NON-BINDING.
The trial judge was undisputably the finder of fact in Florida’s pre-
Hurst sentencing scheme. See Section 921.141(2) and (3), Florida Statutes
(2014). As part of that scheme, the jury was undisputably made to under-
stand that its role was limited to making an advisory recommendation of
death or life in prison. See supra at 8-10. Where, as here, Florida’s pre-Hurst
standard penalty-phase jury instructions were read, the jury heard on over
two dozen occasions that its upcoming recommendation was advisory. At the
outset of the trial in this case, the judge gave similar assurances to each
venire from which the jury was chosen. Those assurances and instructions
impermissibly diminished the jurors’ sense of responsibility.
In Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985), counsel for the State
argued to the jury that its capital sentencing decision would be reviewed by
the state’s supreme court. This Court vacated Caldwell’s sentence, firmly

holding “it is constitutionally impermissible to rest a death sentence on a

determination made by a sentencer who has been led to believe that the
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responsibility for determining the appropriateness of the defendant’s death
rests elsewhere.” 472 U.S. at 328-29. Three dissenting Justices agreed in
principle, taking exception only to the majority’s characterization of the
prosecutor’s argument. Id. at 343-50 (Rehnquist, J., dissenting). That a jury
has heard its role diminished by a court, rather than counsel, weighs even
more heavily in favor of a new sentencing proceeding. The argument of
counsel is “likely viewed as the statements of advocates,” as distinct from
jury instructions, which are “viewed as definitive and binding statements of

the law.” Boyde v. California, 494 U.S. 370, 384 (1990). “The influence of

the trial judge on the jury is necessarily and properly of great weight, and
jurors are ever watchful of the words that fall from him. Particularly in a
criminal trial, the judge’s last word is apt to be the decisive word.”

Bollenbach v, United States, 326 U.S. 607, 612 (1946).

Any reviewing court in a pre-Hurst Florida case can do no more than
speculate that all the jurors would have voted in the State’s favor, as to all
necessary factors and as to the final recommendation, had it been conveyed to

them that those decisions were theirs and theirs alone. Caldwell is based in

¥ This Court treated Florida’s pre-Hurst jury and court as co-sentencers. Espinosa v.
Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992).
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the Eighth Amendment; its holding is that the verdict in that case “does not
meet the standard of reliability that the Eighth Amendment requires.” 472
U.S. at 341. Here the reviewing court held that the jury’s recommendation
obviated the need for any of the Hurst findings to be made. For this to be true,
the recommendation must indeed bear significant indicia of reliability, which
are not present on this record. Caldwell, read with Hurst, warrants further

briefing of this matter in this Court.
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to
order full briefing on the questions raised herein.

Respectfully submitted,
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Synopsis
Background: Defendant was convicted in the Circuit
Court, St. Johins County, Raul Antonio Zambrano, 1., of
murder and kidnapping, and was sentenced to death, He
appealed.

Holdings: The Supreme Coust held that:

U1 prosecution’s  race-neutral reason for exercising
peremptory challenge to African-American prospective
juror was genuine, surviving Barson challenge;

Pl uncharged crimes evidence pertaining to escape of
defendant and codefendants from jail two days prior to
charged murder was relevant and inseparable from
evidence of charged crime and, thus, was admissible as
dissimilar fact evidence;

Bl defendant was not deprived of fair trial as result of
prosecutor’s improper comment, during closing argument,
referring to defendant and his codefendants as “partners in
crime” when referencing their joint escape from prison;

" evidence was sufficient to support murder conviction;
and

! sentence of death imposed upon defendant’s conviction

was proportional to other similar capital cases.

Affirmed.
Pariente, 1., filed concurring opinion.

Quince, I, concurred as to conviction and dissented as to
sentence, with opinion.

Canady, J., concurred in conviction and in result as to

sentence.

Polston, J., concurred in resuis.
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Opinion

PER CURIAM.

Truehill appeals his convictions for the murder and
kidnapping of Vincent Binder and his death sentence. We
have jurisdiction. See art. V, § 3(b}1), Fla. Const. For the
reasons that follow, we affirm Truehill’s convictions and
the death sentence.

FACTS

Quentin Truehill, who was twenty-two years old at the
time, was charged with the kidnapping and murder of
Vincent Binder, who was iwenty-nine years old.
Truehiil’s crime spree began on the evening of March 30,
2010, at the Avoyelles Parish Sheriffs Office in Mansura,
Louisiana, when Truehill and two other cellmates,
Kentrell F. Johnson’ and Peter Hughes,” held the
holding-celt officer hostage. Truehill then attacked the
booking officer with a shank, after which the three
cellmates fled the jail. Later that day, the men siole a
black Chevy extended-cab truck, which contained tools,
including saws and knives. The truck was eventually
found in Miami, and a search of the truck led 1o the
murder weapon and other relevant physical evidence.

Truehill, Johnson, and Hughes committed a series of
crimes between Louisiana and Florida as they made their
way to Miami, which were all linked to the actual msurder.

In Broussard, Louisiana, in the parking lot of a shopping
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center, the men stole a purse from LeAnn Williams as she
exited her car. They then used Williams' credit cards from
her purse to fund their journey until her credit card
company listed the card as stolen. A video from the
shopping center showed images of the black Chevy truck
backing into a parking spot near the incident. Williams’
identification card was later found in the stolen truck.

*937 On the afternoon of April 1, 2010, in Pensacola,
Florida, the three men attacked Brenda Brown at an
apartment complex. One of the men had initiatly
approached her, asking for some water, and the three men
followed her into an apartment that she was cleaning.
After Brown filled a blue plastic cup with water, two of
the men brandished large knives and demanded her
money. One man displayed a large filleting knife, while
the other man’s knife was twelve inches in fength with a
brown wooden handle and did not have a point at the end.
Brown gave them her money, at which point they taped
her mouth with electrical tape, taped her hands behind her
back, and took her to a back bedroom, where they hit her
on her head with the knives. Brown put her hands up to
protect herself and then pretended to be dead. Based on
the injuries she sustained in the attack, she had five of her
fingers amputated; she also had a skull fracture and two
Jacerations on her head. Brown identified Truehill as the
person who approached her with the knife. After Truehill
was apprebended, police found a pair of jeans in the
codefendants” motel room with both Binder’'s and
Brown’s DNA on it, establishing that the person who
battered Brown was also involved in Binder’s death.

The codefendants continued east, arriving in Tallahassee
that same day. At [0:30 p.m. on April I, Johnson
approached Mario Rios, who was visiting a friend at an
apartment complex in Tallahassee, to ask Rios if the mall
was still open. The question seemed odd since it was so
late, and Rios began backing away from Johnson.
Truehill, at that point, jumped out and grabbed Rios by
kis shirt with a twisting motion, demanding all of Rios’s
possessions as Truehill displayed a large knife. Rios
identified the knife in evidence as being consistent with
the knife that he saw. Rios pushed Truehill back and ran
to his friend’s apartment. He called the pelice
immediately and gave law enforcement the shirt that
Truehifl grabbed. DNA testing on the portion of the shirt
that Truehilt grabbed was consistent with Truehill’s DNA.

Later that same evening, around 11 p.m., Cris Pavlish and
her friend were walking in a parking lot toward her car
when a black four-door truck quickly approached and
stopped in a manner that blocked them. The men in the
truck asked them for directions, and Pavlish and her
friend attempted to answer their questions. At that point,

Truehilt demanded her purse, swinging a machete with a
wooden handle and a thin, gold band across it. Truehill
initially attempted to grab Paviish, but she was able to
break free from his grip. During the scuffie, Pavlish’s
purse fell, so Truehill put the knife dowsn to grab her
purse. Pavlish used the opportunity to run away, and her
friend followed shortly. Some of the personal items that
Pavlish had in her purse were found in the stolen black
truck.

That same evening, on April 1, Beth Frady, her husband
David, and Rebecca Edwards met Vincent Binder for
dinner in Tallahassee and then ended their evening at the
Fradys' home, where Edwards and Beth Frady worked on
a paper for school. Binder had his bankcard with him
earlier that evening when he made a purchase at a gas
station, Around midnight on April 2, Binder Jeft the study
group to walk home since he lived only about a mile
away. The next day, Beth Frady texted Binder numerous
times, attempted to call him, and stopped by his house,
but he never responded to any of the attempts. On April 8,
she reported Binder as missing to the police, and during
their investigation, the police learned that Binder’s
bankcard was used for two transactions that occurred at
12:15 and 12:21 a.m. at the Halftime Keg store in
Tallahassee on April 2—fifteen minutes after Binder had
left his friends’ *938 home. A video was obtained from
the store, which showed Truehill using the victim’s
bankcard without the victim’s presence. Additionai
transactions occurred with his bankcard in Madison
County, Jacksonville, Fort Pierce, Daytona Beach, Opa
Locka, and Miami, at which point the bankcard was
blocked based on suspicious activity.

Shiriey Marcus met Truehill, Johnson, and Hughes in
Miami that month when the three men and her friend,
Tony, picked her up in the four-door black truck. Marcus,
who partied with the group at a hotel, recalled that the
three men “had money.” The nexi day, Marcus joined the
codefendants {0 eat at Burger King and visit the beach,
White at the beach, however, one of the men jost the keys
to the truck. Marcus and Johnson left to retrieve Marcus’s
vehicle—a red Ford Sport Trac. When they returned to
pick up Truehill and Hughes, Truehill and Hughes had
Marcus’s tennis shoes, even though she had feft them in
the locked, black truck. In addition, the men carried a
large, black bag. Police eventually recovered the black
truck at the beach in Miami with a shattered left rear
window.

Shortly afier this, the men had run out of money, so
Marcus took the three men to her house. Marcus drove
Truehiil, Johnson, and Hughes to a local Wachovia bank,
where they attempted to withdraw 351,300 from Binder’s
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bank account, using Binder’s bankcard and driver’s
sicense that Truehill had with him. The bank teller became
suspicious because, while the driver’s license submitted
belonged to a white male, the driver was a black female,
and all of the passengers were black males. After the
teller took a long time in processing the request, Johnson
told Marcus to drive away. A bank security guard was
able to write down Marcus’s tag number before the
vehicle disappeared, and a surveillance camera captured
images of the vehicle,

Meanwhile, Peter Milian of the Miami-Dade Police
Department noticed a biack truck in a parking lot with a
shattered left rear window and a missing license tag. After
learning the vehicle was reported as stolen from Louisiana
and searching the vehicle, he found a bloody knife
underneath the front passenger seat. Subsequent testing of
the knife revealed that eight of the bloodstains contained a
compiete DNA profile that matched Binder, and Johnson
was found to be a minor contributor. Additional items
were later found in the truck, including Williams’
Louisiana identification card, ATM receipts, Pavlish's
documents, and a green washcloth with blood on it. DNA
testing of the washcloth revealed a blood stain that
contained a complete DNA profile that matched Binder,
and a mixed DNA profile that was consistent with Binder
and Johnson.

On April 12, 2010, Marcus, Truehill, and Hughes were
arrested at a Budget Inn Motel, and Johnson was arrested
a block away shortly after. In the motel room shared by
Marcus, Truehill, Hughes, and Johnson, police found
significant incriminating evidence, including Binder's
wallet, a black, heavy-duty garbage bag containing
clothing, a metal handsaw, a machete, and a pair of black
Levi’s jeans, DNA testing on the machete resulted in a
partial DNA profile that matched Truehill. DNA testing
on the black Levi's revealed mixed DNA profiles, where
Binder was the major contributor. A swab of the inside
waistband revealed a mixed DNA profile that matched
Truehill, Johnson, Hughes, and Marcus as possible
contributors,

Police also conducted a search in Marcus’s motel room,
where Marcus had initially taken Truehill, Hughes, and
Johnson after they ran out of money, and found a black
sheath for a knife and a pair of Giovanni blue jeans on
Marcus's bed, *939 among other items. DNA testing on
the Giovanni jeans revealed a complete DNA profile that
matched Binder, a DNA profile that matched Brenda
Brown, a mixed DNA profile with Brown as the major
contributor and Johnson as a possible minor contributoer,
and a mixed DNA profile with Binder as the maior
contributor and Johnson as a possible minor contributor.

Law enforcement officers found Binder’s decomposed
body in an open field near 1-95 in St. Augustine, Florida.
Binder’s hat was about twenty-five feet away from his
body with a straight-line cut on the bill going toward the
hat. Binder had four stab wounds to his back and
blunt-force injuries to his lefl head area that penetrated
into the cranium. Approximately ten chopping-type
injuries to the back of Binder’s head caused fractures and
a four-inch hole in the back of his head. In addition,
Binder's ribs were fractured, his ulna bone in the left
forearm  was  fractured, and the radius was
dislocated—classic  defensive injuries. Binder also
sustained chopping injuries on his hands, causing
fractures that also couid be considered to be defensive
injuries. Dr. Frederick Hobin, the medical examiner,
opined that two knives were used to kil the victim, and
that some of the wounds were consistent with a machete,
while the stab wounds were caused by a different knife.

© Michael Warren, the Assistant Director of the William R,

Maples Center for Forensic Medicine, assisted in Binder's
autopsy and opined that the knife in evidence could have
caused the injuries fo Binder’s cranium.

The jury found Truehill guilty of both counts of murder
and kidnapping.

Penalty Phase

In the penalty phase, the State first called Kenneth Stutes,
a retired prosecutor from Lafayette, Louisiana, who
testified that Truehill pled guilty to manslaughter in the
shooting death of James Bourgeois. Truehill was
sentenced to thirty years for this crime and was serving
this sentence at the time of the escape from prison and
subsequent murder. 1n addition, Truehill was convicted of
a 2006 armed rvobbery in Louisiana, and the victim in that
case testified that two masked men jumped into his
vehicle and robbed him. lsadore White testified that
Truehill was her neighbor and friend and adwmsitted his
own invelvement in that robbery. Finally, the State
submitted victim-impact statements from Beth Frady, Dr.
Davis Houck (a Florida State University professor), and
Binder’s aunt, who raised him after his mother died when
he was eleven years old.

Truehill presented several witnesses to  establish
mitigation. ELleanor Smith, the mother of Truehill's
former girlfriend, testified that when Hurricane Katrina
hit New Orleans, she and her daughter were unable to
leave the city so Truehill came to their house to ride out

the storm with them. They thought they had survived the
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storm with minimal damage, but after the levees burst, the
flooding water drove them into the attic. They had to be
rescued by boat from their rooftop, which was a very
traumatic experience. Smith observed how Truehil
changed after the hurricane and how the storm had a
significant impact on him.

Walter Goodwin, a teacher and then principal in New
Orleans, knew Truehill and testified that Truehill was
more of a follower who wanted to be “one of the guys.”
Truehill became more withdrawn after his parents
divorced, and Goodwin encouraged Truehill to get
counseling.

Next, Truehili called his stepmother, Miranda Truehill,
who testified that she stayed with Truehill’s parents
briefly when her marriage was falling apart. She left for
Australia and when she returned, she learned that
Truehill’s parents had divorced. She moved in with
Truehill’s father, *940 and they married soon after.
Truehill was just beginning high school and did not adjust
well to his parents’ divorce or his father’s remarriage. She
also stated that Truchill was an unhappy child and was
more of a follower than a leader.

Marshall Truehiil, Jr., Truehiil’s older brother, testified
that when he was growing up at home with Truehill, they
witnessed some domestic discord, which frightened
Truehiil. Jessica Truehill, Truehill’s sister, also testified
about their upbringing, discussing the fighting that
occurred between their parents and how their father was a
strict disciplinarian. She discussed how another student
was shot at Truehill’s school and how Truehill had a
girlfriend whose child died of Sudden Infant Death
Syndrome and who later died herself. Truehill became
more angry and withdrawn and felt misunderstood. She
also stated that although Truehill had previously shot
someone, he was really scared and nervous after it
happened.

Valli Truehill, Truehill’s mother, testified about her
marriage to Truehill’s father, including the physical,
verbal, and emotionat abuse that she suffered in front of
the children. She stated that when they divorced,
Truehill’s father sat the children down and explained why
they were divorcing, including sexuvally graphic
descriptions of their lack of sexual intercourse, which
shocked the children. After the divorce, she had a difficult
time obtaining child support and was finally forced to
move in with her father. She described how Truehill was
upset over the divorce and remarriage and how Hurricane
Katrina only made him angrier and more hostile.

Mr, Aiken, a defense expert on prisons and prison life,

testified that Truehill could be managed for the rest of his
life in a maximum security setting without a risk of harm
to staff, inmates, or the general community. In addition,
Dr. Fredrick Sauter, a clinical psychologist, testified that
Truehilt suffers from post-traumatic stress  disorder
(PTSD) and depression.

In rebuttal, the State called Dr. Prichard, who opined that
the level of trauma experienced by Truehill did not rise to
the level to support PTSD. He further asserted that, based
on reviewing Truehill’s history, he did not believe that
Truehill was merely a follower, but was actually a leader.
In addition, the State played a jailhouse cenversation
between Truehiil and his mother where Truehill’s mother
suggested that he could attempt to use the storm to
explain why he did strange things.

After hearing all of the aggravation and proposed
mitigation, the jury recommended that Truehill be
sentenced to death by a unanimous vote of twelve to zero.

During a Spencer' hearing before the trial judge, the State
submitted nine additional victim-impact statements,
Truehitl presented additional testimony from his aunt,
Diedra Humphrey, who testified that she visits her
nephew weekly and he has a calm demeanor and reads
many books, including the Bible. His mother testified
again, concerning additional traumas that Truehill
encountered.

After considering the jury's recommendation and all of
the evidence, the trial court found six aggravating factors
applied, analyzing each aggravator in great detail, and
assigning each great weight: (1) Truehill was under a
sentence of imprisonment at the time of the crime; (2)
Truehill had a prior violent felony; (3} Truehill committed
the murder while engaged in the commission of a
kidnapping or robbery; (4) the murder was committed for
the purpose of preventing a lawful arrest; (5} the murder
was especially heinous, *941 atrocious, or cruel (HAC);
and (6) the capital felony was committed in a cold,
calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense
of moral or legat justification (CCP).

The trial court then analyzed whether a sentence of death
was appropriate based on an Enmund/Tison' analysis and
determined the death sentence was appropriate because
Truehill was a major participant in Binder’s murder and
had demonstrated a reckless disregard for human life. The
trial court coacluded that Truehil’s culpability in the
robbery, kidnapping, and murder of the victim “is well
established and conclusively proven beyond a reasonable
doubt.”
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The court weighed this aggravation against five statutory
mitigating  circumstances and  forty  nonstatutory
mitigating circumstances. The court found Truehill failed
to prove the statutory mitigator pertaining o Truehill’s
age (he was 22) but did find four statutory mitigators had
been proven by the greater weight of the evidence and
gave mitigating circumstances -3 “less than slight
weight,” and mitigating circumstance 4 slight weight: (1)
the defendant was under the influence of mental or
emotional disturbance; (2) the capacity to appreciate the
criminality of his conduct or conform to the requirements
of law was substantially impaired; (3) the crime was
committed by another person and Truehill had only a
minor role; (4) Truehill acted under extreme duress or the
substantial domination of another person.

The court then weighed the nonstatutory mitigation and
found Truehill had proven forty nonstatutory mitigators,
but gave most of the mitigation slight to no weight. The
court, however, did find four mitigating factors were
entitled to moderate weight: {1) Truehill experienced the
trauma of witnessing the unfolding of a retaliatory
murder; {2) he helped his girlfriend and her mother escape
the flooding of Hurricane Katrina; (3) Truehill jumped
into the water to save his girlfriend when she fell out of
the boat; and (4) when escaping the flooding from
Hurricane Katrina, Truehill was able to procure a car.

The trial court agreed with the jury’s unanimous vote and
imposed a death sentence, finding that the presence of six
aggravating factors outweighed four statutory mitigating
circumstances and  forty nonstatutory —mitigating
circumstances. Truehill appeals.

ANALYSIS

On appeal, Truehill raises six issues: (1) the trial court
erred in overruling the state’s use of a peremiptory
challenge to an African—American juror; (2) excluding
people due to their age from the jury venire violates the
constitution; (3) the trial court erred in permitting the
State to introduce evidence of other crimes; {4) the
cumulative effect of improper closing comments warrants
a new ftrial; (5) the trial court’s erroneous rulings during
the penalty phase deprived Truehill of a fair trial; and (6)
Florida’s  death  sentencing  scheme  *942 s
unconstitutional based on Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584,
122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002). In addition, we
discuss the propertionality of the sentence of death and
the sufficiency of the evidence. While Truehili’s case was
pending before this Court, the United States Supreme
Court issued its ruling in Hurst_v. Florida (Hurst_v.

Floriday, —U.S. ., 136 8.C1. 616, 619, 193 L.Ed.2d
504 (2016}, holding Florida’s death penalty sentencing
scheme unconstitutional. Truehill requested, and this
Court granted, supplemental briefing on the applicability
of Hurst v, Florida to this case. We address each of these
claims in turn, discussing guilt claims first, including
sufficiency of the evidence, and then turning to penalty
phase claims, including Treehill’s claim  for relief
pursuant to Hurst v, Florida and the proportionality of
Truehill’s sentence of death.

I. Peremptory Challenge of an African—~American
Juror

In Truehilt’s first claim on appeal, he argues that the trial
court erred in upholding the State’s peremptory strike of
Juror Brooks, an African~American prospective juror, on
the grounds that the strike was racially motivated.
Specifically, Truehill argues that the State’s asserted
“race-neutral” reason—ithat the Juror was not forthcoming
about her experience with crime—was not supported by
the record and was pretextual. The State argues in
response that the claim is not properly preserved for
appeal, and furthermore, that the trial court conducted an
adequate inquiry and properly found that the State’s
race-newtral reason was genuine.

During jury selection, the trial court asked the Juror,
“Have you or any member of your immediate family ever
been charged with a crime or been the victim of a crime?”
She responded that she herself had an aunt who was the
victim of domestic violence, but never mentioned that she
had sought an injunction against her ex-husband in 2010,
which included allegations of violent behavior and threats
that her ex-husband had allegedly made in the past. The
State asked the Juror numerous questions about whether
she had immediate family members, friends, or people
with whom she was close with who were victims of a
crime or charged with a crime, and she discussed only her
aunt.

Since the State ran a prior background check an all the
prospective jurors and learned about the injunction that
the Juror had sought, the State used a peremptory
challenge on this prospective juror, arguing that she was
rnot straightforward, had questions in her background, and
had experienced psychological issues. The defense
counsel challenged the use of a peremptory challenge,
asserting that the Juror may not have thought the
injunction was a criminal matter. After the trial court
questioned the Jurer, it sustained the State’s chailenge.
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U1 ®The trial court’s decision to uphold a peremptory
strike is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Files v,
State, 613 So.2d 1301, 1304 (Fla. 1992). Trial courts have
broad discretion in determining the propriety of the
exercise of peremptory challenges. Fotopoulos v. State,
608 So.2d 784, 788 (Fla. 1992).

PHE Blwhen a party exercises a peremptory strike and the

party’s reasons for exercising the peremptory strike are
put in issue, the trial court must examine the party’s
reasons for exercising the strike. State v. Johans, 613
So.2d 1319, 1321 (Fla. 1993); State v. Neil, 457 So.2d
481, 486 (Fla. 1984). As this Cowrt stated in Melbourne v,
State, 679 So.2d 739 (Fla. 1996}

A party objecting to the other side’s use of a
peremptory challenge on racial grounds must; a) make
a timely objection on that basis, b) show that the venire
person is a member of a distinct *943 racial group, and
¢} request that the court ask the striking party its reason
for the strike. If these initial requirements are met (step
1), the court must ask the proponent of the strike to
explain the reason for the strike.

At this point, the burden of production shifis to the
proponent of the strike to come forward with a
race-neutral explanation (step 2). If the explanation is
facially race-neutral and the cowrt believes that, given
all the circumstances surrounding the strike, the
explanation is not pretext, the strike will be sustained
(step 3).

1d. at 764 {footnotes omitted). “In deciding whether the
proffered race-neuiral reason for the peremptory strike is
a pretext, the Court should focus on the genuineness of
the explanation, not the reasonableness.” Poole v, State,
151 50.3d 402, 410 (Fla. 2014). Although reasonableness
is a factor to be considered in determining the
genuineness of the explanation, the Court should also
consider all relevant circumstances surrounding the strike,
including “the racial make-up of the venire; prior strikes
exercised against the same racial group; a strike based on
a reason equally applicable to an unchallenged juror; or
singling the juror out for special treatment.” 1d, (quoting
Nowell v. State, 998 S0.2d 397, 602 (Fia. 2008)).

"“IThe State argues that the defense did not preserve for
appeal whether the underlying facts of the challenge are
supported by the record. See. e.g.. Hoskins v. State, 965

So.2d |, 9 (Fla. 2007); Fotopoulos, 608 So.2d ar 788;
Floyd v, Statg, 369 So.2d 1225, 122930 (Fla. 1990}, A
review of the record demonstrates that the defense
objected based on the genuineness of the State’s reason
and that the Juror was being straightforward, but simply
did not consider the injunction a criminal matter. Thus,

this ground is preserved.

TIpertaining to whether the Juror was straightforward, the
trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that there
was an “omission in disclosing some of the information.”
The Jurer responded to the question of whether she or a
member of her famity had been the victim of a crime by
offering that her aunt was the victim of domestic violence
when the luror was only seven or eight years of age,
which shows that the Juror considered domestic violence
a crime. Yet, she failed to mention her own, more recent
experience with domestic violence underfying her petition
for an injunction. The petition itself indicates that her

-ex-husband committed various crimes against her and her

children, She did not volunteer this information when
asked multiple times whether she or a family member was
ever a victim of a crime. Therefore, the trial court had the
discretion to determine that the State’s reason for the
peremptory was genuine and not pretextual.

Applying the factors discussed in Poele further shows that
the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining
that the reason was genuine. Although the Juror was the
only African—American in the first panel, she was not the
only one in the entire venire, and other African—American
Jjurors were ultimately selected to be on the jury. Nothing
in the record suggests that the State’s strike was based on
& reason equally applicable to an unchallenged juror or
that she was singled out for special treatment.

Thus, the trial court did not err in overruling Truehill's
objection to the State's use of a peremptory challenge on
the Juror.

il. Excluding Jurors Based on Age from the Jury
Venire

®n his next claim, Truehill argues that this Court should
treat age as a protected class by extending the reasoning
of *944 Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712,
90 [.Ed.2d 69 (1986). and State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481
(Fla. 1984), which prohibit removing a potential juror
based on race because it violates equal protection.
Truehili essentially asks that this Court classify “young
people™ as a cognizable class and grant Truehiil a new
trial because the State struck all potential jurors falling
into this category.

This Court has previously rejected this very claim,
helding that “young adults do not constitute a cognizable
class.” Brvant v, State, 386 30.2d 237, 241 (Fia. 1980). In
support, this Court noted that the majority of other
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jJurisdictions have reached the same conclusion. Id. at
240-41. However, although this Court has never held that
age is a legitimate race-neutral reason for a peremptory
chalienge, district courts in this state have. See Saffoid v,
State, 911 So0.2d 255, 256 (Fia. 3d DCA 2003) (holding
that peremptory challenge based on age of prospective
juror is permissible); Daniels v. State, 837 So.2d 1008,
1009 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) (same); Cobb v, State, 825
So.2d 1080, 1085 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) (concluding that it
was not unreasonable to strike a prospective juror in a
drug case when the State genuinely believed that the
prospective juror’s youth and status as a student would
cause her to be more lenient).

MAs this Court has held, in order to show discriminatory
selection under Castaneda v. Partida, 430 U.S. 482, 494,
97 S.Ct. 1272, 51 L.Ed.2d 498 (1977), a defendant must
establish “(a) substantial underrepresentation of (b) an
identifiable group that (¢) is a recognizable, distinct class
which (d) is singled out for different treatment by (e)
comparing the group’s proportions in both the population
and on grand juries (f} over a significant period of time.”
Bryant, 386 S0.2d at 240. In applying that test to “young
adults,” this Court held that the defendant submitred
insufficient proof te support her claim because her
“statistics on young adults coverjed] only the year 1978,
which was not a statistically significant period of time. Id.
at 240 n.5. To the extent that Truehili asks this Court to
reconsider its prior decision in Brvant, he has failed to
present any statistics on young adults or other information
to comply with the necessary showing that young adults
should be treated as a protected class.

Thus, we deny relief on this claim.

111. Erroneous Admission of Evidence of Other Crimes

WOl Truehifl contends that the trial court erred in permitting
the State to introduce evidence of other crimes or acts for
the purpose of proving a material fact in issue.
Specifically, while the State sought to introduce a number
of crimes other than Binder’s kidnapping and murder,
nine of those involved the use or attempted use of the
victim’s bankcard in various locations as detatled in the
statemment of facts. The other crimes involved the
codefendants® escape from jail and various robberies
committed along their route. The trial court specifically
found that the evidence at issue was a mixture of
Williams—rule® evidence and evidence that was relevant
under section 90,402, Fiorida Statutes (2010). However,
the trial court stated, “I'm going to find that the evidence
is admissible but I'm going to qualify that statement by

saying the following: That evidence cannot become a
feature of the trial, and 1 reserve the right to limit it at any
time 1f | find that it’s becoming a feature of the trial.” The
trial court carefully kept its prior ruling in mind during the
trial and the witnesses in the prior crimes provided very
limited testimony regarding these prior crimes. “A trial
judge’s *945 ruling on the admissibility of evidence will
not be disturbed absent an abuse of diseretion, The trial
court’s discretion is constrained, however, by the
application of the rules of evidence and by the principles
of stare decisis.” McDade v. State, 154 So.3d 292, 300
(Fla. 2014) (quoting Havward v. State, 24 Se.3d 17, 29
(Fla. 2009)).

M IIAS this Court has previously held, “Admissibie
evidence of uncharged crimes falls into two categories:
‘similar fact’ evidence and ‘dissimilar fact” evidence.”
Victoring v. Sfate, 23 So.3d 87, 98 (Fla. 2009) {quoting
Zack_v. State, 753 So.2d 9, 16 (Fla. 2000)) (internal
quotation marks omitted). Similar fact evidence, also
known as Williams-rule evidence, “is governed by the
requirements and limitations of section 90,404, [Florida
Statutes (2004)],” id. which permits “evidence of other
crimes, wrongs, or acts ... when relevant to prove a
material fact in issue,” such as proof of motive,
opporfunity, intent, preparaticn, plan, knowledge,
identity, or absence of mistake or accident. ld. (quoting §
90.404, Fla. Stat.). Dissimilar fact evidence is governed
by section 90.402 and has been described as follows:

[Ejvidence of uncharged crimes which are inseparable
from the crime charged, or evidence which is
inextricably intertwined with the crime charged, is not
Williams rule evidence. It is admissible under section
90.402 because ‘it is a relevant and inseparable part of
the act which is in issue. ... [}t is necessary o admit the
evidence to adequately describe the deed.”

Griffin v, State. 639 So.2d 966, 968 (Fla. 1994) {(quoting
Charles W. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, § 404,17 {1993
ed.)). The admissibility of both categories—simitar fact
gvidence and dissimilar fact evidence—is determined by
its refevancy and, of course, subject to exclusion under
the balancing test of section 90.403, Florida Statuges
(2010). Id. In establishing its case, the State “is entitled to
present evidence which paints an accurate picture of the
events surrounding the crimes charged,” Griffin, 639
Se.2d at 970, but cannot “make the evidence of other
crimes the feature of the trial or ... introduce the evidence
sotely for the purpoese of showing bad character or
propensity.” Smith v, State, 866 So.2d 51, 61 (Fla. 2004).

Witn this case, the State sought to introduce evidence
pertaining to eighteen uncharged crimes, most of which

involved the use of the victim’s bankcard. Such use of the
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victim’s bankcard clearly establishes the motive behind
the murder and demonstrates that the codefendants
possessed the victim’s bankecard. Thus, the evidence of
those crimes was clearly relevant.

Mlnce the relevancy of the evidence is determined, the
trial court must also balance whether the probative value
of the relevant evidence is substantially outweighed by
the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues,
misleading the jury, or needless presentation of
cumulative evidence. Wright v. State, 19 So0.3d 277, 296
(Fla. 2009). Here, as stated above, the evidence of the
uncharged crimes is highly probative in establishing both
the motive for the crime and that the codefendants
possessed the victim’s bankcard. While the evidence of
the crimes is also prejudicial, this prejudice does not
substantially outweigh the highly probative nature of the
evidence.

"0 addition, the State sought to introduce evidence
pertaining to {1} the escape from Avoyelles Parish Jail in
Marksville, Louisiana, on March 30, 2010; (2) the theft of
Stephen Mose’s truck in Masura, Louisiana, on March 30,
2010; (3) the robbery of LeAnn Williams by taking her
purse in Broussard, Louisiana, on March 30, 2010; (4} the
subsequent use of Williams’™ credit card at two gas
stations in Louisiana on March 30 and March 31, *946
20190; (5) the robbery and attempted murder of Brenda Jo
Brown in Pensacola on April 1, 2010; (6) the attempted
armed robbery of Mario Rios in Tallzhassee on April 1,
2010; and (7) the armed robbery of Chris Pavlish in
Tallahassee on April 1, 2010. Each of these prior crimes
must be reviewed individually.

We conclude that the evidence of the other crimes
involves relevant dissimilar fact evidence and not
Williams—rule evidence. A review of the uncharged
crimes does not demonstrate the type of similarity
between the crimes that generally occurs in Williams—rule
evidence, but it does show the evidence that is probative
of a material issue regarding the crime in question, which
cannot be separated from Binder's kidnapping and
murder. Evidence is inextricably intertwined if it is
necessary to (1) ‘adequately describe the deed” (2)
provide an intelligent account of the crime(s) charged, (3)
establish the entire context out of which the charged
crime(s) arose, or (4) adequately describe the events
leading up to the charged crime(s).”" Dorsett v, State, 944
S0.2d 1207, 1213 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006} (citations omitred).

Four of the prior crimes involved a robbery or armed
robbery of various victims, in which the prior victims
generally testified that Truehill used force in attempting to
steal their items. In contrast, while no evewitnesses could

testify as to Binder’s interaction with the codefendants,
the evidence shows that Binder was taken, transported to
St. Augustine in a stolen truck, and then killed in an
empty field—none of which occurred in the prior crimes.

An examination of most of the prior crimes demonstrates
that the uncharged crimes are probative of a material issue
regarding the crime in question, and the uncharged crimes
are inexiricably intertwined with the evidence of the
crime charged. As addressed in Griffin, this is not
Williams—rule evidence, but relevant dissimilar fact
evidence. Thus, we must consider each crime separately
to determine its relevancy to the charges here and, of
course, keep the balancing test of section 90.403 in mind.

The theft of Mose’s truck from Masura on March 30,
2010, became an inextricable part of this crime because
the codefendants used it to kidnap and transport the
victim to St, Augustine, Further, because the codefendants
used the vehicle for a considerable time period, a
significant amount of evidence was found in the vehicle,
including a green washcloth with the victim’s DNA on it.
This Court has previously held that a truck stolen for use
during a robbery is inextricably intertwined with the
robbery itseif. See Foster v. State, 679 So.2d 747, 733
(Fla. 1996).

Evidence from Truehill’s taking of Williams' purse by
force or threat in Broussard, Louisiana, is likewise
inextricable from the evidence involved in this crime.
Specifically, on March 30, Williams had her purse
snatched from her as she was exiting her vehicle in a
shopping plaza, and a video from the shopping plaza
showed that the black truck was preseni. Further,
Williams® identification card, which was in her purse
when it was stolen, was found inside the black truck.
Once Williams realized the codefendants were using her
credit card, she contacted the bank to prevent additional
unauthorized use of her card, so the codefendants were
unable to use the card any longer. This established a
motive behind kiiling Binder after taking his bankcard, as
it would prevent him from reporting the card as stolen.

The robbery and attempted murder of Brown in Pensacola
on April [, 2010, is likewise an inextricable part of this
crime. Brown identified Truehill and his codefendants as
the men who attacked her and was able to describe the
knives that the codefendants possessed and used-—knives
*047 that were consistent with the murder weapons in this
case. Further, her biood was found on a pair of Giovanni
blue jeans that also had a complete DNA profile that
matched Binder, and mixed DNA profiles in which
Johnson was found to be a possible minor contributor.
Thus, this evidence directly linked the person who injured
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Brown with the person who stabbed and killed Binder.

Finally, the armed robberies of the Tallahassee victims on
April 1, 2010, are an inextricable part of this crime. Rios
testified that Truehill jumped out and grabbed him,
demanding all of his possessions at knifepoint. He further
identified the knife in evidence as being consistent with
the knife that he saw. In addition, police were able to test
DNA on the portion of Rios’s shirt that Truehill grabbed
to determine that it did match Truehill. Likewise, Pavlish
testified that Truchill grabbed her, brandishing a large
knife that she described, and stole her purse. Some of her
personal items were in the black truck found after it had
been abandoned in Miami. In addition, these two
witnesses provided relevant evidence that Truehill and the
codefendants were in Tallahassee shortly before the
victim was kidnapped and possessed weapons consistent
with the murder weapons.,

This Couwrt has previously held that prior robberies, thefts,
and murders have ali been considered inextricably
intertwined evidence where their fruits were used in the
crime charged or help deseribe the crime at issue. Hunter
v, State, 660 So.2d 244, 251 (Fla. 1995) (armed robbery
preceding  subsequent robbery and murder were
inextricably intertwined). Further, this Court has
previously held prior crimes were inextricably intertwined
with the charged crime, even though the evidence was
both temporally and geographically removed from the
crime at issue. Wright v, State, 19 So.3d 277, 283, 292-93
(Fla. 2009) {(crimes in multiple cities during a three-day
crime spree across cemtral Florida were inextricably
intertwined); Heiney_ v, State, 447 So.2d 210, 211-13
(Fla. 1984) (shooting in Texas preceding beating victim in
Florida admitted as inexiricably intertwined evidence).
Even the most heinous and numerous crimes have been
allowed as inextricably intertwined and found to have
probative value that outweighed prejudice to the
defendant. Zack v, State, 753 S0.2d 9, [3-17 (Fla. 2000)
(probative value of thefts, sexual assault, and murder
outweighed prejudice); Wuornos v, State, 644 $0.2d
1000, 1007 (Fla. 1994) (probative value of six murders
outweighed prejudice). We conclude that the trial court
did not err in permitting the State to present evidence
pertaining to the robberies against the other victims, We
emphasize, however, that this decision could have been
different if evidence of other crimes had become the focus
and feature of the trial.

"*Iwe reach the same conclusion pertaining to the escape

from the Avoyetles Parish Jail on March 30, 2010, The
State asserls that this piece of evidence was admissible
because Fruehiil’s escape from ihe jail “began his crime
spree across the Gulf Coast and established his method of

working in concert with Hughes and Johnson.” The trial
court found:

Those facts that preceded the
kidnapping of Vincent Binder tell
the story which ultimately ends
with his death. To consider the
kidnapping and killing of Vincent
Binder in a vacuum; that is without
knowing the antecedent events that
had taken place just prior to
Vincent Binder’s death kidnapping,
would have misled the jury into a
story that would have made little or
ne sense,

The evidence of the escape from prison, admitted in a
limited capacity, showed how the codefendants met and
what preceded *948 their crime spree--facts that the trial
court found to be necessary to “establish the entire
context out of which the charged crime(s) arose™ and to
“adequately describe the events leading up to the charged
crime(s).” Dorsett, 944 So.2d at 1213.

Truehill relies on this Court’s ruling in Czubak v, State,
370 So.2d 925, 928 (Fla. 1990), to argue that the trial
court’s admission of the escape evidence was improper,
In that case, the defendant was charged with murdering
his roommate, with whom he had lived for two months.
Id, at 926. A witness who knew the defendant and
suspected he may have “done something” testified that
she had told her uncle about her suspicions but did not ask
him to investigate the defendant; however, if she had, she
would have known he was an escaped convict at the
time-—an answer that was comptletely unresponsive to the
question asked and unexpected. ld, at 927-28. The
defendant moved for a mistrial. ld. at 927. This Court
held that the reference to the defendant being an escaped
convict was “‘clearly inadmissible™ and had no relevance
to any material issue in the case. ld, at 928. We further
recoghnized that the “[e]rroneous admission of collateral
crimes evidence is presumptively harmful.” 1d, Since the
case against the defendant was largely circumstantial, we
granted a new trial, explaining that we were unabie fo
determine “beyond a reasonable doubt that the verdict
was not affected by the revelation that he was an escaped
convict.” 1d,

Czubak is factually distinguishable, First, Czubak had
been living with the victim for approximately two months
at the time of the murder, meaning that his escape from
prison must have been at least two months prior to the
murder, in this case, on the other hand, the victim was
murdered only three days after Truehill and the other



Truehill v. State, 211 $0.3d 830 {2017)
T Weekiy e

codefendants escaped from prison. Moreover, Czubak
was living with the victim and committed the crime alone.
By contrast, here, Truehill acted together with
codefendants with no connection to him other than the
prison where they were all housed. Additionally, the
victim was completely unknown to Truehill. Accordingly,
in Czubak, there was no justification for using the prison
escape evidence to explain either Czubak’s access to the
victim or his motive for the crime, while in the present
case there was.

Further, the evidence of the prison break did not become a
feature of the trial. The trial court emphasized this point,
stating: “I'm going to find that the evidence is admissible
but I'm going to qualify that statement by saying the
following: That evidence cannot become a feature of the
trial, and 1 reserve the right to limit it at any time if I find
that it’s becoming a feature of the trial.”

Accordingly, we deny relief as to this claim.

1V, Allegedly hmproper Closing Comments

Wi INext, Truehill challenges five objected-to
comments that the prosecutor made during closing
arguments. In reviewing this claim, we keep in mind the
proper standards that apply to each comment. For those
comments to which the defense objected and the trial
court erroneously overruled defense counsel’s objection,
we apply a harmless error test. See Snelgrove v, State,
921 So.2d 560, 368 (Fia. 2005); Doorbal v. State, 837
S0.2d 940, 956-57 (Fla. 2003}, Where the trial court
denied a motion for mistrial, we review that ruling under
an abuse of discretion standard. See Belcher v, State, 961
So.2d 239, 255 (Fla. 2007) (explaining that, where the
trial court erroneously overrules an objection to improper
prosecutorial comments, this Court reviews the comments
for harmless error and the denial of the motion for *949
mistrial based upon the comments for abuse of
discretion).

oL Wiide latitude is permitted in presenting opening

and closing statements to a jury, and comments by the
prosecutor will merit a mistrial only when they deprive
the defendant of a fair and impartial trial, materially
contribute fo the conviction, are so harmful or
fundamentally rainted as to require a new trial, or are so
inflammatory they might have influenced the jury to reach
a more severe verdict than it would have otherwise
rendered.” Miller v, State, 161 So0.3d 354, 382 (Fla, 2013)
(citation omitted). “We do not examine the allegedly

improper comments in isolation.” Card v, State, 803

So0.2d 613, 622 {Fla. 2001). Instead, we “examine[ | the
totality of the errors in the closing argument and
determine] ] whether the cumulative effect of the
numerous improprieties deprived the defendant of a fair
[trial].” Id, (citations omitted).

B he first area of impropriety concerns the prosecutor’s
alleged violation of the Williams-rule instruction when
the prosecutor stated:

Leann Williams, you remember her
testimony. She lived in the area of
Broussard, Louisiana which is just
south of Marksville, Louisiana
where the defendant and his
partners in crime escaped in the
Avoyelies Parish Jail.

At that point, defense counsel objected and asked for a
sidebar, wherein defense counsel argued that referring to
the codefendants as “partners in crime” violated the
court’s order not to consider the escape from jail as a
crime. The trial court sustained the objection and
admoenished the prosecutor to refer to the bad acts as
“circumstances” rather than crimes, even though the court
noted that the jury would be well aware that the acts
described were crimes. The trial court then denied the
motion for mistrial but granted the defendant’s request for
a curative instruction and re-read the Williams-rule
instruction to the jury.

Truehill contends that the denial of the motion for mistrial
is contrary to the holding in Pacifico v. State, 642 So.2d
1178, 1182 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), The circumstances
presented there are significantly different from this case.
In Pacifico. the prosecutor Impermissibly used a
defendant’s prior convictions in a manner to imply the
defendant had a propensity to commit crimes and
continued to emphasize this point throughout closing
arguments, despite the fact that the trial coust repeatediy
sustained defense counsel’s objections. ld. at 1181-83,
Further, the prosecutor used name-calling as a feature of
the closing arguments. Id. Based on those and numerous
other types of improper argument, the district court
granted a new trial. Id. at 1184-85.

In conirast, in this case, the comment “partners in crime”
was very minor, the trial court sustained the objection and
provided a curative instruction, and then the prosecutor
did not mention this again. This very brief statement did
not deprive the defendant of a fair and impartiai trial or
materially contribute to the conviction.

12T he second area of impropriety concerns the prosecutor
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injecting his own personal beiief on the evidence:

The independent-act doctrine—and
when you really break it down and
think about it, it really is not going
to affect premeditated murder
because, if you think about it, we
have proven that this defendant was
involved in premeditated murder.
We have shown the facts that we
believe and the facts that show—

Defense counsel objected immediately, and at sidebar,
moved for a mistrial. The trial court sustained the
objection and denied the motion for mistrial. After
admonishing the prosecutor to “just talk about the
evidence and what—what it shows or doesn’t *950
show,” the judge then instructed the jury that closing
arguments were not evidence or instructions on the law,
but to aid the jury in its understanding of the case.
Afterwards, the prosecutor resumed his argument, stating:
*When you look at the evidence, ladies and gentlemen,
you will see—and, of course, it’s your determination
whether or not premeditated murder even falls within that
instruction, I would submit to vou, ladies and gentlemen,
that it does not.”

A prosecutor may not express his or her personal belief
on the defendant’s guilt in a case. Valentine v, State, 98
S0.3d 44, 55 (Fla. 2012). In this case, before the
prosecutor even finished the sentence, defense ¢ounsel
promptly objected, and the trial court sustained the
objection and provided a curative instruction to the jury.
The prosecutor imniediately emphasized to the jury that
the jury was charged with determining the relevant
questions in the case. Because the objection occurred so
carly into the statement, it is unclear whether the jury
would even have been aware where the prosecutor was
going with the statement. However, based on the
corrective instruction from the trial judge and how the
prosecutor then worded the remainder of his argument,
this statement had little, if any, impact on the jury. The
trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying in the
motion for mistrial.

" Third, Truehill contends that the prosecutor improperty
restated his initial closing argument during his rebutial
argument. Defense counsel objected to this line of
rebuttal, stating that while the defense recognized that
much of what the prosecutor’s argument involved “things
| touched on, but [the prosecutor’s] limited in his second
closing to oniy facts that we talked on ... [s]o all they are
doing is step by step doing things, whether | talked about
it or not. ... He doesn’t have the right to do two initial

closings.” The prosecutor replied that he was entitled to
rebut the defense’s argument that there was a lack of
proof as to Truehill’s involvement. The trial court
overruled the objection,

We conclude that the prosecutor’s argument on this point
was not improper. The prosecutor was setting forth a
timeline, pointing out Truehill's involvement as to each
step. During the rebuttal, the prosecutor specifically
addressed points raised previously by defense counsel.,

¥n the fourth allegedly improper comment, toward the
end of the closing argument rebuttal, the prosecutor
stated, “Justice demands a verdict of guilty, ladies and
gentleman. Vince, he deserves justice.” Defense counsel
objected and then moved for a mistrial at sidebar,
asserting that this statement improperly inflamed the
passions of the jury and also misstated the law. The trial
court overruled the objection, stating, “1 don’t believe he
is appealing to the sympathy or anything tike that.™ The
prosecutor did not use this statement again during the
guilt phase,

As to the “justice for the victim™ arguments, the trial court
erred in overruling the objection. As we recently held,
“this type of comment has been considered improper
under clearly established Florida law for over three
decades.” Cardona v. State, 185 S0.3d 514, 522 (Fla.
2016); see also Davis v, State, 136 So0.3d 1169, 1197-98
(Fla. 2014) (determining that the argument that the
victim’s siblings would want to know what justice was
imposed for the victim’s murder was improper); Dorsey

v, State. 942 So2d 983, 986 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006)

(declaring that “demanding justice for the victim” was
improper); Shaara v. State, 581 So.2d 1339, 1341 (Fla. 1st
DCA 1991} (determining that “the prosecutor’s comment
that the victim was asking the jury for justice™ was
improper); Edwards v, State, 428 So0.2d 357, 359 (Fla. 3d
DCA 1983) {criticizing the prosecutor's argument, *951
which included “All 'm going to ask you for is justice. |
ask you for justice both on behalf of myself and the
people of the State of Florida, also on behalf of [victim’s]
wife and children.™). Similar to Williams and dissimilar to
Cardona, this statement was an isolated comment and
thus, it alone would not mandate reversal. See Davis. 136
Se.3d at 1197 {where this Court denied relief where the
prosecutor argued during the penalty phase that the
victim’s family would want to know “what justice was
done,” but the reference to the victim’s family was an
isolated comment and was onty made once).

1%lln the fifth area of impropriety, Truchill contends that
the State improperly used the message-to-the-community
argument. Specifically, the prosecutor stated, *If you find
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the evidence in this case was proven beyond a reasonable
doubt, then through your verdict ..., let this defendant
know that you can’t kidnap people, let hint know that you
can’t rob people ...." Defense counsel objected and, at
sidebar, moved for a mistrial, asserting that prosecutor
impermissibly used the message-to-the-community
argument as a basis for a conviction. The trial court
sustained the objection, denied the motion for mistrial,
and instructed the jury to disregard the last statement
made by the prosecutor,

This Court has clearly stated that “prosecutors may not
ask the jury to send a message through its verdict.”
Fletcher v, State. 168 So.3d 186, 209 (Fla. 2013); see,
¢.g., Campbeil v. State, 679 So.2d 720, 724 (Fia. 1996);
Card, 803 So0.2d at 622. In Card, this Court addressed a
derivative of that improper argument, where the
prosecutor argued in closing that the jury was “the
conscience of this community.” 803 So.2d at 622. The
Court held that a new trial was not warranted,
emphasizing that the reference was isolated and the
prosecutor did not continue with the argument after the
defense attorney objected and thus the trial court did not
err in denying the mistrial, as “the comments were not so
prejudicial as to vitiate the entire wial.” 1d.; see also
Thornton v. State, 767 So0.2d 1286, 1288 (Fla. 5th DCA
2000) (holding that even if the argument was a “send a
message” argument, it was harmless), Similarly, in this
case where the defense objected immediately and the trial
court instructed the jury to disregard such a statement, the
trial court did not err in denying the motion for mistrial.

Finally, in reviewing all of the improper arguments
cumulatively, we conclude that Truehil is not entitled to
relief. As addressed above, a mistrial is warranted only
where the improper closing arguments ‘“deprive the
defendant of a fair and impartial trial, materially
contribute to the conviction, are so harmful or
fundamentally tainted as to reguire a new trial, or are so
inflammatory they might have influenced the jury to reach
a more severe verdict than it would have otherwise
rendered.” Miller, 161 So.3d at 382.

While the prosecutor should not have made the argument
involving justice for the victim and appealing to the jury
to “send a message” for the community, the prosecutor
did not continue to make the same comments during his
rebuttal after the defense’s objection, so the comments
were brief. Thus, we conclude that relief is not warranted
on this claim.

V. Sufficiency of the Evidence

78 e ven though Truehill does not raise this issue,

this Court has a “mandatory obligation to determine the
sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the homicide
conviction.” Jones v. State, 963 S0.2d 180, 184 (Fla.
2007). In deciding this matter, “the question is whether,
after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to
the State, a rational trier of fact could have found the
existence of the elements of the crime beyond a
reasonable doubt.” *952 Simmons v, State, 934 So.2d
VH00, 1111 (Fla. 2006) {(quoting Bradley v. State, 787
So.2d 732, 738 (Fla. 2001)). As the conviction in this case
is based wholly upon circumstantial evidence, a special
standard of review applies. “Where the only proof of guilt
is circumstantial, no matter how strongly the evidence
may suggest guilt, a conviction cannot be sustained unless
the evidence is inconsistent with any reasonable
hypothesis of innocence.” Gosciminski v, State, 132
So0.3d 678, 716 (Fia. 2013) (quoting State v, Law, 559
So.2d 187, 188-89 {[la. 1989)). The State need not “rebut
conclusively every possible variation of events which
could be inferred from the evidence, but they need only to
introduce competent evidence which is inconsistent with
the defendant’s theory of events.” [d. (quoting Law, 559
S0.2d at 189) (internal quotation marks omitted}. Courts
will sustain a conviction based solely on circumstantial
evidence so long as the evidence is **(1) ‘consistent with
the defendant’s guilt” and (2} “inconsistent with any
reasonable hypothesis of innocence.” ™ Delgado v. State,
948 Sc.2d 681, 689-90 (Fla. 2006) (quoting Qrme v,
State, 677 S0.2d 258, 261 & n.1 (Fla. 1996)).

1*IThe jury found Truehill guilty of first-degree murder
based on theories of premeditation and feleny murder,
Although his conviction is based whoily upon
circumstantial evidence, Truehill did not propose any
reasonable hypothesis of innocence in this case.

A review of the record demonstrates that competent,
substantial evidence supports Truehiil’s conviction for the
first-degree murder of Vincent Binder. The record in this
case shows that after Truehill and his codefendants lefi
Louisiana in a stolen black truck, they arrived in
Tatlahassee, Florida, around April 1. That evening,
Fruehili, Johnson, and Hughes were in the area of the
kidnapping when the codefendants, brandishing a knife,
attempted to grab two other people unsuccessfully.
Pavlish identified Truehili as the man who exited a black
truck, pulled out a very long knife, and pulled her toward
the truck as he told her to give him her purse. She
struggled, breaking free of his grasp, but left her purse
behind, which contained all of her important documents,
including her high school diploma and her Social Security
card. Some of her personal items were later found in the
stolen truck,
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Binder had his bankcard with him earlier that evening
when he made a purchase at a gas station. He then joined
some friends at their home, where they studied until
midnight. Binder decided to walk home, which was about
a mile away. Fifteen minutes after Binder left his friends’
house, Truehill was videotaped using Binder’s bankcard
at the ATM machine inside the Half Time Keg store,
without Binder’s presence. as Truehill withdrew money
from Binder's account. Binder did not have any
connections to Truehill or the other two codefendants.

A few hours later, around 2:33 a.m., on April 2, 2010,
Binder’s bankcard was used in Jacksonville, Florida, to
make additional gasoline purchases. Truehill and his
codefendants successfully used Binder’s bankcard as they
continued toward Miami, including using it in Dayiona
Beach, Fort Pierce, Opa Locka, and Miami. Truehill
remained with the codefendants and, in Miami, Truehili
again attempted to obtain money from Binder’s accounts
at a bank, using Binder’s driver’s license and his
bankcard.

After Truehill and his codefendants lost the keys to the
stolen ftruck, they abandoned the wvehicle. Law
enforcement officers found the stolen black truck in
Miami, and inside the truck were bankcard receipts from
Binder’s accounts, a bloody Rambo-style knife, and a
diploma and Social Security card belonging to Pavlish,
among other incriminating items. Also in *953 the vehicle
was a green washcloth with blood on it that matched
Binder’s DNA in some places and had mixed DNA
profiles that showed Truehill, Binder, and Johnson were
possible sources. Blood on the Rambo-style knife
matched Binder’s DNA, and a mixed DNA profile on that
knife that matched Binder, Brown, Truehill, Hughes, and
Johnson as possible contributors, Because investigators
did not find blood inside the truck itself, the evidence
demonstrated Binder was not killed in the truck.

After the codefendants were arrested, blood was found on
two pairs of jeans in the codefendants” motel room.
Testing on a pair of Levi’s jeans showed that Binder was
the major contributor for mixed DNA profiles, but
Truehill, Johnson, Hughes, and Marcus were possible
sources. The Giovanni blue jeans had a complete DNA
profile that matched Binder, a DNA profile that matched
Brenda Brown, and mixed DNA profiles where Johnson
was found to be a possible minor contributor. The police
also found a machete in the room, and DNA testing on the
machete resulted in a partial DNA profile that was
consistent with Truehill’s DNA. Thus, the forensic testing
of the washcloth, the knives, and the jeans indicates that
Truehill was present for the murder, Further, based on the

prior instances where Truehill previously robbed the other
victims, the record establishes that Truehill possessed the
murder weapon. Finally, Truehill was the defendant who
possessed the victim’s bankcard minutes after his
disappearance. Accordingly, both the kidnapping and
murder convictions are supported by competen,
substantial evidence.

Y1, Denial of the Motion for New Trial

“Turning to the penalty phase, Truehill alleges the trial
court erred in denying his motion for new trial based on
ertors that occurred during this portion of the trial. To the
extent that Truehill attempts to incorporate his motion for
new trial by adopting and referencing each of the issues
raised in his motion filed below, as this Court has
previously held, a defendant cannot merely “incorporate]
] the arguments in his [prior] motion by reference.”
Ferrell v, State, 29 So.3d 939, 968 0.6 (Fla. 2010). Thus,
these arguments are insufficiently pled. In addition,
Truehil]l challenges three specific rulings the trial court
made during the penalty phase, which we wii} address in
turan.

PAEirst, Truehill contends that the trial court erred in
granting the State’s motion in limine, which sought to
prevent Truehill from introducing an expert to discuss his
“security evaluation” of Truehill and opine on Truehilf’s
likelihood of a future escape from prison if he was
sentenced to life instead of death. The State contended
that such evidence would not be relevant mitigation in a
penalty phase proceeding because it would not focus en
the defendant’s character, but instead would review the
characteristics of a prison facility, Defense counsel
responded, arguing that because the jury was already
presented  with information that Truehill and his
codefendants escaped from a jail prior to committing the
murder, the expert should be able to “render his opinion
that it’s unlikely that Mr. Truehill, based on everything
that he knows, would escape from prison.” The trial court
granted the State’s motion in limine, reasoning that the
likelihood of escape is not a character aspect of a
defendant and is different from mitigation that focuses on
whether the defendant is a peaceful person who can
behave appropriately in prison. This expert was called
during trial, but the State objected when his testimony
began to focus on the adequacy of the jail facilities from
which Truehill escaped and compared them to long-term
incarceration facilities in Florida.

*954 We conclude the trial court did not err in excluding

testimony that focused on the characteristics of an
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incarceration facility, as opposed to Truchill’s character,
In'a somewhat analogous situation, this Court held that
the triai court did not err in excluding proffered expert
testimony regarding Florida’s parole procedures and a
defendant’s likelihood of being paroled if the jury did not
vote for death, holding that such evidence did not concern
the defendant’s character. Merck v. State, 975 So.2d
1054, 105960 (Fla. 2007); see also King v. Dugoer, 555
So.2d 355, 359 (Fla. 1990) (concluding that the trial court
did not err in excluding testimony that a life sentence for
first-degree murder includes a minimum mandatory
sentence of {wenty-five years of imprisonment because
such evidence was not relevant to the defendant’s
character, his prior record, or the circumstances of the
crime), Likewise, here, based on the record and the
arguments presented, the defense sought to present the
characteristics of various prison systems to support the
hypothesis that Truehill woutd not escape in Florida—a
fact that does not involve Truehiil’s character, his record,
or the circumstances of the crime.

miSecond, Truehill asserts that the trial court erred in
denying two motions for mistrial made during the penalty
phase when a Stale expert witness, Dr. Prichard, twice
“ventured afield from the evidence and misled the jury
with speculation.” In support, Truehill points to two
portions of the record. In the first instance at issue, Dr.
Prichard testified that there were “probably more”
gun-related offenses in  Truehill’s history. Defense
counsel objected, and the trial court sustained the
objection, providing a curative instruction to the jury. In
the next instance, Dr. Prichard testified that because
PTSD was not presented in Truehill’s earlier Louisiana
trial, it likely did not exist.

However, other than briefly describing these two events,
Truehill’s counsel provides no argument to support this
subclaim. Accordingly, we deny this as insufficiently
pled. Even if this Court reviewed this subclaim on the
merits, Truehill would not be entitled to relief. As this
Court has held, “The trial court should grant a motion for
mistrial only ‘when an error is so prejudicial as to vitiate
the entire trial.” * Smith v. State, 170 So.3d 745, 757 (Fla.
2015) {(quoting Jackson v, State, 25 So.3d 518, 528 (Fla.
2009)). “IT]his Court reviews a trial court’s ruling on a
maotion for mistrial under an abuse of discretion
standard.” Ld. This standard has clearly not been met.

PUFinally, Truehill alleges that the trial court erved in
denying a mistrial for prosecutorial misconduct based on
closing arguments. Specifically, toward the end of the
prosecutor’s closing argument, the prosecutor stated, “It's
been said that the dead cannot cry out for—."" At the same
time, the slide projector displayed a picture of the victim

with the text: “The dead cannot cry out for justice, It is
the duty of the living to do so for them.” Defense counse!
objected immediately, even though he did not have the
chance to read it all. The trial judge also stated that he
was unabie to read it because the slide was taken away so
quickly. The trial court denied the motien for mistrial and
declined to provide a curative instruction, explaining that
it would only highlight the error since it was visible for
such a brief amount of time. The State alleges that this is
not an improper argument.

We reject the State’s argument because it was clearly an
improper appeal to the jury’s emotions, and, coupled with
the actual photo of the victim with the caption, it had the
potential alone for causing reversible error. Fortunately
for the State, the defense counsel immediately recognized
*955 how inflammatory the captioned slide would have
been and the trial court took prompt action. The
prosecutor’s insistence that this was permissible is of
great concern.

PSBased on the fact that this slide was removed so
quickly and neither counsel nor the court were able to
read the caption by the time it was removed, we hold that
the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the
motion for mistrial. However, we strenuously condemn
such tactics, which attempt to influence the jury to impose
the harshest sentence by appealing to their prejudice or
sympathy. Closing argument “must not be used to inflame
the minds and passions of the jurors so that their verdict
reflects an emotional response to the crime or the
defendant.” Cardona, 185 So.3d at 520 (quoting Bertolottj
v. State, 476 S0.2d 130, 134 (Fla, 1985)). As we stated in
Cardona:

The State’s burden is to prove the
clements of the crime beyond a
reasonable doubt. When the S:ate
instead uses closing argument to
appeal to the jury’s sense of
outrage at what happened to the
victim and asks the jurors to return
a verdict that brings “justice” to the
victim, the State perverts the
purpose of closing argument and
engages in the very type of
argument that has been repeatedly
condemned as antithetical 1o the
foundation of our criminal justice
system that guarantees a fair trial to
every accused.

Id. at 519-20.
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Vil. Hurst Claim

Bl The next issue addressed is whether Truchili is

entitled to relief under Hurst v, Florida {Hurst v. Florida),
— U.s, , 136 S.Ct 616, 193 L.Ed.2d 504 (20106),
and Hurst v, State (Hurst), 202 So.3d 40 (Fla, 2016). New
rules of law announced by this Court or the United States
Supreme Court will apply to all cases that are pending on
direct review or are otherwise not finalized. State v.
Johnsen, 122 So.3d 856, 861 (Fia. 2013) (citing Griffith
v. Kentucky., 479 U.S. 314, 328, 107 S.Ct. 708, 93
L.Ed.2d 649 (1987): Smith v. State, 598 So.2d 1063, 1066
(Fla. 1992}). Therefore, Hurst v, Florida and Hurst apply
to Truehili’s case, which is before this Court on direct
appeal.

Truehill contends that he is entitled to relief pursuant to
Hurst v. Florida because the jury in his case was
repeatedly instructed regarding the non-binding nature of
its  verdict, and, despite the unanimous jury
recommendation, Hurst v. Florida error is structural and
therefore not capable of harmless error review. In Hurst,
on remand from the United States Supreme Court, we
determined that these errors are not structural and are
therefore subject to harmless error review. See Hurst, 202
50.3d at 67. After this Court’s holding in Hurst, requiring
that the jury unanimously find all facts necessary to
impose a sentence of death and unanimously recommend
death, there is no question whether there was Hurst error
in Truehill's penalty phase, where the jury issued only an
advisory recommendation of death, without more specific
findings. Accordingly, the issue before this Court is
whether the Hurst error in Truehill’s case was harmiless
beyond a reasonable doubt.

B8lin Hurst, this Court explained the appropriate standard
for harmless error review:

Where the error concerns sentencing, the error is
harmless only if there is no reasonable possibility that
the error contributed to the sentence, See, e.g., Zack v,
State, 753 So2d 9, 20 (Fla. 2000). Although the
harmless error test applies to both constitutional errors
and errers not based on constitutional grounds, “the
harmless errar test is to be rigorously applied,” *956
[State v.] DiGuilio, 491 S0.2d [1129,] 1137 [Fla. 1986],
and the State bears an extremely heavy burden in cases
involving constitutional error. Therefore, in the context
of a Hurst v. Florida error, the burden is on the State, as
the beneficiary of the error, to prove beyond a
reasonable doubt that the jury’s failure to unanimously
find all the facts necessary for impaosition of the death

penalty did not contribute to Hurst’s death sentence in
this case. We reiterate:

The test is not a sufficiency-of-the-evidence, a
correct resuit, a not clearly wrong, a substantial
evidence, a more probable than not, a clear and
convincing, or even an overwhelming evidence test.,
Harmless etror is not a device for the appellate coun
1o substitute itself for the trier-of-fact by simply
welghing the evidence. The focus is on the effect of
the etror on the trier-of-fact.

DiGuilio, 491 So.2d at 1139. “The question is whether

there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected

the {sentence].” Id.

Hurst, 202 S0.3d at 68. As applied to the right to a jury
trial with regard to the facts necessary to impose the death
penalty. it must be clear bevond a reasonable doubt that a
rational jury would have unanimously found all facts
necessary to impose the death penalty and that the death
penalty was the appropriate sentence. See Davis v. State,
207 So.3d 142 (Fla. 2016).

Turning to  Truehill’s sentence, we emphasize the
unanimous _ jury  recommendation of death. The
unanimous jury recommendation of death provides this
Court with the evidence necessary to conclude beyond a
reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have
unanimously found that sufficient aggravating factors
existed to impose the death penalty and that those
aggravating  factors  outweighed the  mitigating
circumstances presented.

In its instructions, the jury was informed that it needed to
determine whether sufficient aggravators existed and, if
so, whether the aggravation outweighed the mitigation
before the death penalty could be imposed. Fla. Std. Jury
Instr. (Crim.) 7.1 (*If ... you determine that no
aggravating circumstances are found 1o exist, or that the
mitigating circumstances outweigh the aggravating
circumstances, or, in the absence of mitigating factors,
that the aggravating factors alone are not sufficient, you
must recommend imposition of a sentence of life in prison
without the possibility of parole rather than a sentence of
death.”). The jury ultimately returned a unanimeus verdict
of death based on the conclusion of all twelve jurors that
sufficient aggravating circumstances existed and such
aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating
circumstances.

Even though the jury was not informed that the finding
that sufficient aggravating circumstances outweighed the
mitigating circumstances must be unanimous, and even
though it was instructed that it was not reqguired to
recommend death even if the aggravators outweighed the




Truehill v. State, 211 So.3d 930 (2017)
42FIaL\Neek[y Sypg

mitigators, the jury did in fact recommend death
unanimousty. See id. (“If, after weighing the aggravating
and mitigating circumstances, you determine that at least
one aggravating circumstance is found to exist and that
the mitigating circumstances do not outweigh the
aggravating circumstances, or, in the absence of
mitigating factors, that the aggravating factors alone are
sufficient, you may recommend that a sentence of death
be imposed rather than a sentence of life in prison without
the possibility of parole. Regardiess of your findings in
this respect, however, you are neither compelled nor
required 1o recommend a sentence of death.”). From these
*957 instructions, we can conclude that the jury
unanimously made the requisite factual findings to
impose  death before it issued the unanimous
recommendation. Further supporting that any Hurst error
was harmless here, Truehill has not contested any of the
aggravating factors as improper in the case at
hand—Truehill’s direct appeal.

Lastly, as to the mitigating circumstances, the jury was
presented with evidence that included four statutory
mitigating circumstances: (1) the defendant was under the
influence of mental or emotional disturbance; (2) the
defendant’s capacity to appreciate the criminality of his
conduct or conform to the requirements of law was
substantially impaired; (3) the crime was committed by
another person and Truehill had only a minor role; (4)
Truehili acted under extreme duress or the substantial
domination of another person. The jury was also
presented with evidence of forty nonstatutory mitigating
circumstances, Despite all of this evidence, the jury
unanimously recommended a sentence of death,
indicating that all twelve jurors agreed that the mitigating
evidence did not outweigh the six aggravating factors.

We conclude that the State can sustain its burden of
demonstrating that any Hurst error was harmless beyond a
reasonable doubt. Here, the jury unanimously found all of
the necessary facts for the imposition of a death sentence
by virtue of its unanimous recommendation. In fact,
although the jury was informed that it was not reguired to
recommend death unanimously, and despite the
mitigation  presented, the jury still unanimously
recommended that Truehill be sentenced to death for the
murder of Binder. The unanimous recommendation here
is precisely what we determined in Hurst to be
constitutionally necessary to impose a sentence of death,
Hurst, 202 So.3d at 44. Therefore, Truchill is not entitled
to relief

V1. Proportionality

B9 H0L L 21A though Truehil] does not raise this issue on

appeal, this Court has an independent obligation to review
the proportiorality of a sentence of death regardless of
whether it is raised by a party. See England v. State, 940
So.2d 389, 407 (Fla. 2006); see also Fla. R. App. P.
9.142(a)(3). Because the death penalty is reserved only
for those cases where the most aggravating and least
mitigating circumstances exist, this Court must undertake

-a “comprehensive analysis in order to determine whether

the crime falls within the category of both the most
aggravated and the least mitigated of murders, thereby
assuring uniformity in the application of the sentence.”
Silvia v. State, 60 So.3d 939, 973 (Fla. 2011) {quoting
Anderson v. State, 841 So.2d 390, 407--08 (Fla. 2003)). In
performing this review, the Court considers the totality of
the circumstances and compares the case with other
simitar capital cases. Duest v. State, 855 So.2d 33, 47
(Fla. 2003). The Court does not simply compare the
number of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, but
rather performs a qualitative review of the underlying
basis for each aggravating factor and mitigating
circumstance. Silvia, 60 So.3d at 973. In reviewing the
sentence for proportionality, this Court will accept the
jury’s recommendation and the weight assigned by the
trial judge to the aggravating and mitigating factors. [d.

M this case, the jury recommended that Truehill be
sentenced to death by a unanimous vote of twelve to zero.
The triat court found six aggravating factors applied,
analyzing each aggravator in great detail: (1} Truehill was
under a sentence of imprisonment at the time of the ctime;
(2) he had a prior violent felony conviction; (3) the
murder was committed while engaged in the commission
of a kidnapping or robbery; (4) the murder was committed
for the purpose of preventing a *958 lawful arrest; (5)
HAC; and (6) CCP. The judge assigned each of these
aggravators great weight.

The trial court also considered the statutory mitigators,
finding that Truehil{ had proven four of them: (i} the
defendant was under the influence of mental or emotional
disturbance; (2) his capacity to appreciate the criminality
of his conduct or conform to the requirements of law was
substantially impaired; (3) the crime was committed by
another person and Truehill had only a minor role; (4)
Truehill acted under extreme duress or the substantial
domination of another person. Factors 1-3 were given
“less than slight weight,” while factor 4 was given slight
weight, with the trial court noting several concerns that it
had regarding some of the factors. The court found
Truehill failed to prove the statutory mitigator pertaining
to Truehill’s age at the time of the crime and thus gave it
no weight. The court then weighed the nonstatutory
mitigation, giving most of the mitigation little weight,”
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*959 Finally, the trial court then analyzed whether a
sentence of death was appropriate based on an
Enmund/Tison analysis and determined the death
sentence was appropriate because Truehill was a major
participant in Binder’s murder and had demonstrated a
reckless disregard for human life. The court weighed this
aggravation against five statutory mitigating factors and
forty nonstatutory mitigating circumstances and found a
sentence of death was the appropriate sentence in this
case.

In comparing this case to other capital cases, we conclude
that a sentence of death is proportional to other cases
where the sentence of death was imposed. In Tanzi v.
State, 964 So.2d 106 (Fla. 2007), the defendant strangled
the victim to death during a kidnapping and robbery. 1d. at
[11. We found the sentence of death to be proportional
based on six aggravators, including HAC, CCP and a
prior violent feleny. {d. at [21. While that case involved
less mitigation, when examining the weight that the trial
court gave to the mitigation in this case, with the
exception of four nonstatutory mitigators that were given
moderate weight, the trial court determined that the other
mitigation was entitled to either slight weight or less than
slight weight, We have also found the sentence of death to
be proportional in similar types of cases where there was
significantly less aggravation. See. e.g. Singleton v.
State, 783 So0.2d 970, 972~73, 980 (Fla. 2001) (holding
the sentence of death to be proportional where the
defendant stabbed the victim multiple times and the trial
court found a prior violent felony and HAC, three
statutory mitigating circumstances, and nine nonstatutory
mitigating circumstances, including that the defendant
was under the influence of extreme emotional disturbance
and his capacity to conform his conduct to the
requirements of law was substantially impaired); Pham v,
State, 70 So.3d 485, 500-01 (Fla. 2011) ¢holding death
sentence proportional in stabbing murder for which trial
court found four aggravators—prior violent fefony
conviction, HAC, CCP, and committed in the course of a
burglary or kidnapping—and numerous mitigation,
including under influence of mental or emotional
disturbance, somewhat impaired capacity to appreciate
criminality or conform to requirements of law, traumatic
childhood, and stable employment history); Banks v.
State, 46 So0.3d 989, 994, 1600 (Fla. 2010) (holding death
senterice proportional for stabbing murder where the trial
court found HAC, CCP, and prior violent felony

conviction aggravators, and five mitigating
circumstances—low  1Q, brain  deficit, antisocial

personality traits, not the only participant, and difficult
youth).

"Further, we must consider relative culpability. As this
Court has held, “When a codefendant is egually as
culpable or more culpable than the defendant, the
disparate treatment of that codefendant may render the
defendant’s punishment disproportionate.” Sexton v.
State, 775 Se0.2d 923, 935 (Fla. 2000). “[I}f the defendant
is the more culpable participant in the crime, disparate
treatment of the codefendant is justified.” Id,

One of the codefendants—Hughes—has been sentenced
to fife without the possibility of parole after he pled
guilty. However, this life sentence does not render a death
sentence for Truehill disproportionate because *960
Hughes was clearly the least culpable. The evidence from
trial establishes that Hughes was the defendant who
primarify served as the lookout in the various crimes and
was not generally seen brandishing either of the murder
weapons,

The other codefendant, Johnson, was convicted and
sentenced to death for the kidnapping and murder of
Binder but his case is still pending before this Court on
appeal. See Johnson y. State, No. SC14-1966 (remanded
for evidentiary hearing Sept. 29, 2016). In this case, when
reviewing the Enmund issue, the trial court undertook a
detailed analysis as to Truehitl’s culpabitity and found as
follows:

Mr. Truehill and his codefendants
were in a crime spree. [Truehill s}
role in each offense was a
prominent and active one. That
means that he wasn’t a getaway
driver or “lookout.”” The evidence
shows to the contrary. His role was
an active one in that he would be
physically in contact with the
victims. He was the one who held
Mr, Rios during the attempted
robbery of Mr. Rios just a couple of
hours before Mr, Binder was
Kidnapped. It was Mr. Truehill who
struggled with Ms. Pavlish over her
purse during the robbery of Ms.
Pavlish, again, just a couple of
hours before Mr. Binder was
robbed and kidnapped. It was Mr.
Truehill who always brandished the
knife during these events. And it
was on his hand that the murder
weapon was seen shortly before the
robbery and kidnapping of Mr.
Binder,
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These findings are supported by competent, substantial
evidence in the record. Further, Truehill was the person
who actually possessed Binder’s bankcard minutes after
his disappearance and his DNA was clearly on the murder
weapon, Upen a full review, we conclude the record
firmly establishes that Truehill was equally or more
culpable than codefendant Johnson and thus the death
penalty is not dispropoertionate.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, we affirm Truehill’s convictions
and his sentence of death.

It is s0 ordered.
PARIENTE, I, concurs with an opinion.

QUINCE, 1., concurs as to the conviction and dissents as
to the sentence, with an opinion.

NOT FINAL UNTIL TIME EXPIRES TO FILE
REHEARING MOTION, AND IF FILED,
DETERMINED.

LABARGA, C.J, and PARIENTE, and LEWIS, 1),
cancur,

CANADY, J., concurs in the conviction and concurs in
result as to the sentence.

POLSTON, J., concurs in result.

LAWSON, }., did not participate.

PARIENTE, 1., concurring.

I write to address the dissent’s argument that, despite the
unanimous jury recommendation for death, the Hurst
error in Truehill’s case cannot be considered harmless
beyond a reasonable doubt because three of the six
aggravating factors presented to the jury required a factual
determination.

In this case, three of the six aggravating factors—that
Truehill was under a sentence of imprisonment at the time
of the crime; that Truehill had a prior violent felony; and

that Truehili committed the murder while engaged in the

commission of a kidnapping or robbery—did not require
the jury to make a separate factual determination to
establish that the aggravating factor was proven beyond a
reasonable doubt. Although 1 agree that, under Hurst, only
the aggravating factors found *961 unanimously by the

Jury can be considered in determining the sufficiency of

the aggravating factors, whether all twelve jurors
unanimously agreed on each of the remaining three
aggravating factors does not alone render the jury’s
unanimous recommendation per se harmful. Rather, what
we know is that the jury unanimously determined that
there were sufficient aggravating factors to outweigh the
mitigating circumstances and unanimously recommended
death as the appropriate penalty. Further, none of the
aggravating factors that the State and the trial court relied
on in imposing death were challenged by Truehill or
deemed improper by this Court. Considering the
circumstances of this crime, including the aggravating
factors and the mitigating circumstances, [ agree with the
majority that any Hurst error in this case was harmless
beyond a reasonable doubt.

For these reasons, 1 concur.

QUINCE, 1., concurring in part and dissenting in part,

I concur with the majority’s finding that the evidence here
is sufficient to sustain Truehill’s convictions. However, |
cannot agree with the majority’s finding that the Hugst
error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. To the
extent that I would not find the ervor harmless, I dissent.

In Hurst, we held that for a defendant to be eligible for the
death sentence, a jury must unanimously find the
existence of each aggravating factor, that the aggravating
factors are sufficient, and that the aggravating factors
outweigh the mitigating circumstances. Hurst, 202 S¢.3d
at 44. Additionally, we held that the jury’s death sentence
recommendation must be unanimous. 1d. While I agreed
in Hugst that Hurst v. Floride errors are subject to
harmiess error review, see id. at 68, I do not believe that
we can ever find Hurst error harmless when there are
aggravating circumstances that require a factual
determination based on evidence presented to the jury.
Because Hurst requires that “requires a jury, not a judge,
te find each fact necessary to impose a sentence of death,”
see Hurst v, Florida, — U.S, —— 136 U5, 616, 619,
193 L.Ed.2d 504 (2016), the error cannot be harmless
where such a factual determination was not made,

The aggravating circumstances in this case were: (1)
Truehill was under a sentence of imprisonment at the time
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of the crime; (2) Truehill had a prior violent felony; (3)
Truehill committed the murder while engaged in the
commission of a kidnapping or robbery; {4) the murder
was committed for the purpose of preventing a lawful
arrest; {5) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious,
or cruel (HAC); and (6) the capital felony was committed
in a cold, caleulated, and premeditated manner without
any pretense of moral or legal justification (CCP). Three
of these aggravators are established without a factual
determination by the jury, but the remaining aggravators
each required factual findings that, under Hurst, must now
be considered and weighed by a jury. As we stated in
Hurst, without an interrogatory verdict, we cannot
determine which aggravators the jury unanimously found
beyond a reasonable doubt. See Hurst, 202 So.3d at 67.

In Hurst, we declined to speculate why the jurors voted
the way they did, yet because here the jury vote was
unanimous, the majority is comfortable determining that
all twelve jurors determined “that sufficient aggravating
circumstances  existed and that such aggravating
circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances.”
Maj. op. at 956. Even though the jury unanimously
recommended the death penalty, whether the jury
unanimously found each aggravating factor remains
unknown. Furthermore, because the jury was %962
instructed that it need only find one aggravating
circumstance (“If ... you determine that at least one

Footnotes

1

aggravating circumstance is found to exist .., it is
unciear from the record whether the jury truly did
unanimously  find  that  sufficient  aggravating
circumstances existed.

The majority’s reweighing of the evidence to support its
conclusion is not an appropriate harmless error review.
The harmless error review is not a sufficiency of the
evidence test, and the majority’s analysis should instead
focus on the effect of the error in the trier of fact. Staie v,
DiGuilio, 491 S0.2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). By ignoring
the record and concluding that all aggravators were
unanimously found by the jury, the majority is engaging
in the exact type of conduct the United States Supreme
Court cautioned against in Hurst v. Florida. See Hurst v.
Florida, — U.S. , 136 S.Ct. 616, 622, 193 L.Ed.2d
304 (2016). Because the harmless error review is not a
sufficiency of the evidence review nor “a device for the
appellate court to substitute itself for the trier-of-fact by
simply weighing the evidence,” DiGuilio, 491 So.2d at
1138, I conclude that the error here was harmful,

All Citations
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Codefendant Kentrell Johnson was fried separately, found guilty and sentenced to death for the murder of victim
Binder, and his conviction and death sentence for that murder is on appeat and slili pending in this Court. Johnson v.
State, No. SC14-1966 (remanded for evidentiary hearing Sept. 28, 2016).

Codefendant Peter Hughes was charged with the same crimes, pled guilty to first-degree murder, and was sentenced

In Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782, 102 S.Ct. 3368, 73 L.Ed.2d 1140 {1982), the United States Supreme Court heid
that the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution does not permit imposition of the death penalty on a
defendant “who aids and abets a felony in the course of which a murder is committed by others but who does not
himself kill, attempt to kill, or intend that a killing take place or that tethal farce will be employed.” Id. at 797, 102 3.Ct.
3368. In Jison v. Arizona, 481 1.8, 137, 107 S.Ct. 1676, 95 L.Ed.2d 127 (1987), the Supreme Cour expanded the
Enmund culpability requirement for imposing a death sentence under a felony murder theory to include “major
participation in the felony committed, combined with reckless indifference to human life.” 1d. at 1588, 107 S.Ct. 16786.

2
to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole.
3 Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).
4
5 Williams v. State, 110 S0.2d 654 (Fla. 1958).
8

Specifically, the trial court found the following mitigators: (1) Truehilt endured multiple acts of trauma in his life and has
been diagnesed with PTSD (given slight weight); (2) Truehill lived in a dysfunctional family setting as a child (given
stight weight}; (3) Truehill's father was a strict disciplinarian (given less than slight weight); (4) Truehill believed his
sister was his mother {given less than slight weight); (5) Truehif's father engaged in inappropriate verbal abuse of the
children {given less than slight weight); (6) when Truehill's father declared that he intended 1o leave the family, he
disclosed personal information about the children's mother (given slight weight); (7) Truehill's father divorced their
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mother and abandoned the home (given no weight): (8) after Hurricane Katrina, Truehill was unable to obtain
government benefits because his mother claimed him as a dependent, but gave his room away to another person
(given slight weight); (9) many of Truehill's siblings and family members were misplaced as a result of Hurricane
Katrina (given less than slight weight); (10) Truehil's mother lost her home to foreclosure (given less than slight
weight); (11) Truehill's father divorced his mother after permitting a stranger to move into their home and falling in love,
which made Truehill bitter (given slight weight); (12} Truehill's parents divorced (given less than slight weight); {13)
Truehill was tricked into attending his father's wedding (given less than slight weight); (14) after the divorce, Truehill
began to associate with the wrong people (given slight weight); (15) Truehill participated in sports in middle and high
schoof (given less than slight weight); (18) Truehill engaged in community seqvice (given less than slight weight); (17)
Truehill interacted well with underprivileged children (given less than slight weight); {18) Truehill worked as 2 juvenile at
Baskin-Robbins (given less than slight weight); (19) Truehill's father refused to take him to basketball games (given
less than sfight weight); {20} Truehill's father did not attend either his junior high school or high school graduation
(given less than slight weight); (21) Truehill experienced the tragic loss of his first serious girlfriend (given slight
weight); (22) Truehill's first serious girlfriend lost a child to Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (given less than slight
weight); (23} Truehill experienced the trauma of witnessing the unfolding of a retaliatory murder (given moderate
weight), (24) Truehill knew about the retaliatory murder of a classmate in a high school gymnasium (given siight
weight}; (25) Truehill graduated from high school {given slight weight}; (26) Truehili enrolled in and started classes to
learn autemobile collision repair (given slight weight); (27} Truehill was unabie to transfer his enroliment to another
public technical school (given slight weight); (28) during Hurricane Katrina, Truehill endured the storm and the chaos of
the unexpected continually rising waters (given less than sfight weight); (29) Truehill helped his girlfriend and her
mother escape the flooding of Hurricane Katrina (given moderate weight); (30) Truehil! jumped into the water to save
his girlfriend when she fell out of the boat (given moderate weight); (31) Truehill lost his dogs as a result of Hurricane
Katrina (given less than slight weight); (32) when escaping the flooding from Hurricane Katrina, Truehill was able to
procure a car (given moderate weight); (33) Truehill lost his maternal grandparents’ home based on damage from
Hurricane Katrina (given slight weight); (34) Truehill never received any form of counseling or professional assistance
(given slight weight); {35) Truehill and his mother love each other {given slight weight}; {36) Truehill's aunt moved to be
closer to him (given less than slight weight): (37) Truehill has family members who love him (given slight weight); (38)
Truehill exhibited good behavior in court (given less than slight weight); (39) Truehill consistently exhibited good
behavior while housed in the county jail (given less than slight weight); and {40} Truehill will adjust weil to the prison
setting in Florida (given slight weight).

End of Document 2077 Thomsoen Reuters. No claim to orgingt U8 Governmen: Works,
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